Mechanism of active substrate delivery by the AAA+ protease adaptor ClpS

by

Izarys Rivera-Rivera

B.S. Chemistry University of Puerto Rico, Río Piedras (2009)

Submitted to the Department of Biology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2015

© 2015 Massachusetts Institute of Technology. All rights reserved.

Signature of Author	Signature redacted
	ンデノ August 28, 2015 Department of Biology
Cartified by	Signature redacted
Certified by	Tania A. Baker E.C. Whitehead Professor of Biology Thesis Supervisor Signature redacted
Accepted by	Robert T. Sauer Salvador E. Luria Professor of Biology Thesis Co-supervisor Signature redacted
	Amy E. Keating Professor of Biology Co-chair, Biology Graduate Committee



Mechanism of active substrate delivery by the AAA+ protease adaptor ClpS

by

Izarys Rivera-Rivera

Submitted to the Department of Biology on August 28, 2015, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

AAA+ molecular machines power myriad cellular processes including protein degradation, microtubule severing, membrane fusion, and initiation of DNA replication. Protein quality control in all organisms involves deployment of ATP-dependent proteases, consisting of hexameric AAA+ rings that unfold and translocate specific substrates into an associated peptidase barrel. Adaptor proteins assist in recognition and degradation of certain substrates, but how enzyme-adaptor pairs ensure proper substrate selection is incompletely understood.

In this thesis I focus on the delivery mechanism employed by the bacterial adaptor protein ClpS. The ClpS adaptor collaborates with the AAA+ ClpAP protease to recognize and degrade N-end rule substrates. ClpS binds the substrate's N-degron and assembles into a high-affinity ClpS-substrate-ClpA complex, but how the N-degron is transferred from ClpS to the axial pore of the AAA+ ClpA unfoldase to initiate degradation is not known. Here, we demonstrate that the unstructured N-terminal extension (NTE) of ClpS enters the ClpA processing pore in the active ternary complex and that ClpA engagement of the ClpS NTE is crucial for ClpS-mediated substrate delivery.

In addition, I report evidence that ClpA engagement of the ClpS NTE drives structural rearrangements in ClpS important for N-end rule substrate delivery. Furthermore, our preliminary experiments suggest that ClpS is able to resist degradation by ClpAP due to a combination of a high local stability and a challenging translocation sequence at the junction of the NTE and folded core domain. I propose a model in which ClpA remodels ClpS by translocating the NTE, triggering delivery of the N-end rule substrate. Similar mechanisms may be employed by other AAA+ enzymes that collaborate with adaptor proteins to remodel/disassemble substrates without destroying them by degradation.

Thesis Supervisor: Tania A. Baker Title: E.C. Whitehead Professor of Biology

Thesis Co-Supervisor: Robert T. Sauer Title: Salvador E. Luria Professor of Biology

Acknowledgements

I have many people to thank for their help through my graduate career. I give thanks to my advisor Tania Baker whose encouragement, knowledge, guidance, and patience significantly improved my scientific education. I also thank the members of the Baker and Sauer labs for creating an amazing working environment and sharing their knowledge.

I thank Adrian Olivares for both his mentorship and friendship.

I thank my co-advisor, Bob Sauer, for his guidance, his support and his mentorship. I thank the members of my thesis committee, Amy Keating and Iain Cheeseman, for their helpful advice and their support. I also thank Steve Bell for all of the support and helpful discussions. TAing for your class was one of the best experiences in my life.

I thank my friends, many of whom are co-workers and classmates, for making graduate school a happy and fun period of my life. Particularly I thank Daisy Riquelme, Katie Villa, Stephane Calmat, Amaris Torres, Paul Fields, and Adam Shoemaker for all of the support, the love, and the fun times. Thanks for always being there for me and for being my family away from home.

I am especially grateful to my family. The unyielding support of my parents, Artemio and Annie, and my brother, Xavier, has been and continues to be a defining feature of my life.

Above all, I thank my husband, Ben Stinson. He has been a constant source of support over the years. His love, patience, knowledge, and home-cooked dinners have been invaluable to me over the years. Thank you for everything you do for us.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction10
Importance of protein degradation11
The AAA+ Superfamily11
AAA+ proteases13
The Proteasome15
Bacterial Proteases17
Substrate Recognition19
Ubiquitination20
Pupylation21
SsrA Tags22
N-degron Pathway23
Adaptor proteins25
SspB26
RssB27
UmuD28
MecA28
ClpS
ClpAPS and the N-degron Pathway in <i>E. coli</i>
The ClpS adaptor: a model for substrate delivery
References
Chapter 2: Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-
degron substrates41

Abstract4	12
Introduction4	13
Results4	16
The ClpS NTE acts in cis during substrate delivery4	16
ClpS NTE physically enters the ClpA pore4	18
Increasing the length of the CIpS NTE results in truncation by CIpP5	52
Antagonizing NTE engagement inhibits N-degron substrate delivery5	54
Discussion5	57
Materials and Methods6	32
Acknowledgements6	54
References6	35
Chapter 3: Delivery of N-degron substrates to the CIpAP protease requires structural	
rearrengements within the CIpS adaptor protein6	39
rearrengements within the CIpS adaptor protein6	39 70
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein6 Abstract	59 70 71
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75 ry
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75 ry 78
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75 75 78 30
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	89 70 71 75 75 75 78 30 35
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75 75 78 30 35 37
rearrengements within the ClpS adaptor protein	69 70 71 75 75 75 78 30 35 37 30

•

References	93
Chapter 4: Perspectives and future directions	96
Introduction	97
Physiological role of the N-degron pathway in <i>E.coli</i>	98
Do interactions with the N-domain of CIpA stabilize CIpS?	100
Is ClpS always a part of the ClpAP machine?	101
Partial substrate unfolding by AAA+ enzymes	101
References	

List of Figures

1.1. AAA+ proteases, varied complexity, common architecture	15
1.2. Cartoon of the general mechanism utilized by AAA+ proteases	17
1.3. Reaction scheme for Ubiquitination	21
1.4. Recognition of the ssrA degron by the SspB adaptor	27
1.5. The adaptor protein ClpS	30
1.6. Model for ClpA-dependent N-degron substrate transfer	33
2.1. Model for the active delivery mechanism employed by ClpS	45
2.2. The ClpS NTE delivers N-degron substrates in cis	48
2.3. The ClpS NTE localizes inside the ClpA pore	51
2.4. ClpAP cleaves an extended ClpS NTE	53
2.5. Engagement of the ClpS NTE is necessary for delivery of N-degron substrates	56
2.6. Model for CIpA-dependent N-degron substrate transfer	61
3.1. Model for ClpA- and nucleotide- dependent N-degron substrate transfer	74
3.2. The β 1-strand of CIpS is remodeled during substrate delivery	77
3.3. Crosslinking the β 1-strand inhibits delivery of N-degron substrates	79
3.4. Mutations in the CIpS junction render the adaptor succeptible to degradation by	
ClpAP	83
3.5. Preliminary data suggest that global stability of ClpS is not affected by mutations	; in
the junction sequence	86

List of Tables

1.1. N-degron classes in eukaryotes and bacteria	25
--------------------------------------------------	----

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

Importance of protein degradation

Intracellular protein degradation is fundamental for cellular survival. It allows cells to respond to environmental stresses as well as developmental cues (1-3). Misfolded or damaged proteins must be degraded in order to prevent toxic aggregation, and functional proteins are degraded for regulatory purposes. In both cases, degradation recycles amino acids. An important example of degradation as a regulatory tool in eukaryotes is the control of cell cycle progression by various cyclin-dependendent kinases (CDKs), which are activated upon binding to their partner cyclins. Cyclins undergo a continuous cycle of synthesis and degradation during cell division. CDKs are inactivated by proteolysis of their partner cyclins, leading to transitions between stages of the cell cycle. Different cyclins are degraded at different stages to allow for cell cycle progression (4, 5). Failure to degrade cyclins at a specific time leads to the arrest of dividing cells, highlighting the importance of these precise proteolytic events.

Intracellular proteolysis occurs through various pathways. In the lysosomes of eukaryotic cells, for example, protein degradation is catalyzed by relatively non-specific ATP-independent proteases (6). In bacteria, archaea, and the cytoplasm and nucleus of eukaryotic cells, proteolysis of specific target proteins is carried out by peptidases that recognize only a limited number of peptide sequences or by ATP dependent proteases that are members of the AAA+ superfamily (3, 7, 8).

The AAA+ Superfamily

The AAA+ (ATPases associated with various cellular activities) superfamily is a ubiquitous family of proteins that utilize the energy of ATP binding and hydrolysis to

power mechanical work (1, 9-11). They work in a wide range of cellular events that ensure the healthy growth and maintenance of the cell under normal growth as well as under stress conditions. Examples of AAA+ enzymes include DNA polymerase clamp loaders, DNA helicases, the molecular motor dynein, and protein unfoldases. A defining feature of AAA+ family members is the presence of a structurally conserved AAA+ module (~250 residues), which consists of a large and small domain. This fold has multiple motifs that define the superfamily and are required for ATP binding and hydrolysis (*e.g.* Walker A motif and Walker B motif, sensor 1, sensor 2, and arginine fingers). The Walker A motif plays an important role in nucleotide binding and metal-ion coordination, which is necessary for ATP hydrolysis. In contrast, the Walker B motif contains residues that are more directly involved in ATP hydrolysis and that participate in metal ion coordination (1, 3). Unfoldases comprise a major class of AAA+ enzymes that assemble into hexameric rings and perform ATP-dependent remodeling on macromolecular substrates (12).

Protein unfoldases play critical roles in protein metabolism. Members of this subfamily use cycles of ATP binding and hydrolysis to drive conformational changes in the ring that partially or completely unfold protein substrates (13). One member of this family is the bacterial unfolding chaperone ClpB. ClpB extracts unfolded polypeptides from aggregates via substrate threading through its central channel. By using mixed aggregates consisiting of protein fusions of misfolded and native domains, Haslberger *et al.* proposed that even partial unfolding of a misfolded moiety by ClpB can be sufficient to solubilize aggregates (14).

In some cases, protein unfoldases translocate unfolded polypeptides into a partner protease for degradation (15). For instance, a major class of AAA+ protease substrates arises from the bacterial tmRNA system, which adds a degradation tag (degron) to the products of stalled ribosomal translation (16-18). These tagged proteins are recognized by the unfoldase ClpX, which translocates the polypeptide to the ClpP peptidase for degradation (19, 20).

AAA+ proteases

In all kingdoms of life, large barrel-shaped assemblies named AAA+ proteases carry out regulated ATP-dependent proteolysis. Although their complexity varies among different kindodoms, they all share a common architecture that consits of a hexameric AAA+ unfoldase ring and a multi-subunit compartmental peptidase that contains the active sites for degradation (Figure 1.1) (1, 15, 21, 22). Active sites for compartmentalized proteases vary among enzymes. For example the ClpP peptidase of the ClpAP and CIpXP proteases contains a His-Asp-Ser catalytic triad in its active site, whereas the proteolytic active site for the Lon protease is composed of a Lys-Ser dyad (23, 24). Several structural studies show that the AAA+ unfoldase ring and the peptidase bind such that their central pores are aligned (25-28). The unfoldase AAA+ ring recognizes the substrate through an intrinsically disordered degradation tag, or degron, in an otherwise folded protein that is unable to pass through the narrow central pore (Figure 1.2) (15). Degrons vary significantly among organisms and among AAA+ proteases. Examples of degrons utilized by different organims as well as by different AAA+ proteases will be described in the substrate recognition section. Translocation of the degron attached to the folded protein through the central AAA+ pore generates an unfolding force as the enzyme pulls a large structure through a narrow channel (15). The translocation power stroke can be driven by ATP hydrolysis in a single subunit of the ring. The nucleotide-binding site is located between the large and small AAA+ domains, and ATP binding and hydrolysis can alter the orientation of these domains, causing rigid-body motions that propagate around the ring. These movements are transmitted to the substrate in part by conserved pore loops that protude into the central pore (29, 30). Finally, translocation of the denatured substrate into the degradation chamber results in its degradation (Figure 1.2). Additionally, pore loops also play important roles in substrate recognition as mutation of pore loop residues affects the recognition and processing of substrate proteins (31-34).

AAA+ degradation machines guarantee that truncated, damaged and unwanted proteins are eliminated from the cell, thereby ensuring homeostasis of the proteome. The next two sections will focus on the main AAA+ proteolytic machines in both eukaryotic and bacterial cells.



Figure 1.1. AAA+ proteases, varied complexity, common architecture. Cartoon of the eukaryotic 26S proteasome and the bacterial CIpAP protease. Both proteases share a common architecture in which the protease sites are buried in an internal chamber of the compartmentalized peptidase and AAA+ hexameric rings flank the peptidase (35, 36). (*A*) Cross section of the eukaryotic 26S proteasome. The 20S core particle is flanked by 19S regulatory particles. The proteolytic sites in the 20S core particle are located in the β -rings of the peptidase. The scaffold proteins Rpn1 and Rpn2, the ubiquitin receptors Rpn10 and Rpn13 and the loops lining the ATPase ring are shown. Only one set of loops lining the ATPase ring is shown. (*B*) Cross section of the bacterial CIpAP protease. The CIpP peptidase is flanked on both sides by CIpA ATPase rings. Only one set of loops lining the ATPase ring is shown. Figure taken from Schrader et al. 2009 (37).

The proteasome

The proteasome is the main proteolytic machine in archea and in the cytosol and nucleus of eukaryotic cells (38). It is responsible for degrading hundreds of regulatory proteins and for destroying damaged proteins (38). In eukaryotes, this multi-component protease is called the 26S proteasome and is composed of two subcomplexes, the 20S core particle and the 19S regulatory particle (Figure 1.1A) (39).

The 20S core particle is composed of four seven-membered rings of α and β subunits.

The inner two rings each consist of seven related β -subunits that are arranged to form an internal cavity (35). Three of the subunits in each ring contain a proteolytic site that faces the cavity. A ring of seven related α -subunits on each side flanks the β -rings, and substrates enter the proteolytic cavity formed by the β -rings through a pore at the top of the α -ring (Figure 1.1 A) (35). By itself, the pore of the 20S core particle is too narrow to allow folded proteins to enter through diffusion, and even unfolded peptides are inefficiently degraded (40).

The 19S regulatory particle recognizes, unfolds and translocates substrates into the core particle for degradation. It contains ~18 proteins and two major subassemblies, the lid and the base. The base is a hetero-hexamer of AAA+ ATPases (Rpt1-Rpt6) that form a ring and peform the mechanical unfolding of substrates. The base also contains the Rpn1 and Rpn2 subunits, which bind to the ATPase ring and mediate binding of various ubiquitin receptors (Figure 1.1A) (41-43). The Rpt1-Rpt6 ring contains a long channel at the center, and the C-terminal ends of their AAA+ domains dock into the 20S core particle and trigger pore opening within the peptidase (35, 40). This pore opening facilitates the entrance of denatured proteins into the proteolytic chamber (40). Subunits of the lid include ubiquitin receptors (Rpn10 and Rpn13) and a de-ubiquitinase (Rpn11), among others (Figure 1.1A) (35, 43).

Proteins are targeted to the proteasome by a two-part degron consisting of a disordered region within the substrate and a reversibly-attached polyubiquitin tag (Ub_n) (43, 44). Ubiquitin is a small (76 residue) globular protein that performs myriad functions in eukaryotic cells (45). Covalent conjugation to other proteins, a process named

ubiquitylation or ubiquitination, is important for the degradation of numerous proteins by the 26S proteasome (38). A polyubiquitin tag is attached to substrates by ubiquitinases and this process can be reversed by de-ubiquitinases (46). The ubiquitination process will be described in detail in the substrate recognition section. The proteasome recognizes substrates at the ubiquitin tag via ubiquitin receptor subunits and initiates degradation at the disordered region (44, 47). Once the proteasome has engaged a substrate, it unravels the protein through the central cavity of the regulatory particle into the core particle (45). The intrinsic de-ubiquitinase Rpn11 removes and recycles the polyubiquitin tag as unfolding and degradation begins (48).



Figure 1.2. Cartoon of the general mechanim utilized by AAA+ proteases. A degron on a protein substrate is recognized by the AAA+ unfoldase. Afterwards, through cycles of ATP binding and hydrolysis, the substrate is unfolded and subsequently translocated into the peptidase for degradation. Figure from Sauer and Baker, 2011 (15).

Bacterial proteases

The study of bacterial proteases has provided insights into the general mechanisms

employed by AAA+ enzymes. Whereas the cytosol and nucleus of eukaryotic cells contain a single ATP-dependent protease, bacteria utilize several different proteases (49). *E. coli* has five distinct proteases with partially overlapping specificities: cytosolic ClpAP, ClpXP, HsIUV, and Lon, and the membrane-anchored FtsH. Some of these enzymes contain both the AAA+ domain and the protease domain in a single polypeptide chain (e.g. Lon and FtsH), whereas others consist of separate AAA+ unfoldase and peptidase partners (*e.g.* ClpAP, ClpXP, and HsIUV, where P and V are the peptidases). Each of these unfoldases contains at least one AAA+ module (1). ClpA is unique amongs this group of enzymes as it has two AAA+ modules in each of its 6 subunits (named D1 and D2) (50). Many bacterial species possess the ClpA-related ClpC unfoldase, which also has two AAA+ modules (51). Biochemical experiments suggest that the two ATPase rings of ClpA can fire and function independently as protein unfoldases (although the D2 ATPase ring is more important for unfolding of stable susbtrates) (50, 52).

All AAA+ proteases contain a family-specific accessory domain, usually located at the N-terminus of the AAA+ polypeptide (N-domain). HsIU contains an intermediate domain (I domain) within the AAA module sequence (26). In contrast to the AAA+ domains, the N-domains of different families share no structural homology. These family-specific domains are typically not required for basic AAA+ protease function as variants of ClpA, ClpX and FtsH lacking these domains are still active in degradation of some substrates (53, 54). HsIU is an exception, as deleting the I domain results in a ~50-fold reduction of its basal ATP hydrolysis rate (55). In most cases, N-domains play an important role in substrate recognition.

Because of the irreversible nature of protein degradation, it is critical that substrate recognition is closely regulated. In the next section, I will address some examples of the numerous strategies cells use to regulate substrate recognition.

Substrate Recognition

With millions of proteins crowding both prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells, it is important that substrate recognition by each protease is tightly controlled to prevent wasteful or toxic destruction. At the simplest level, proteolysis by AAA+ proteases is controlled via access to the active sites that are encapsulated inside the compartmentalized peptidase (15, 21, 22). For example, the ClpP peptidase is able to degrade small peptides in the absence of an AAA+ partner; however, an ATPase partner is needed to allow regulated degradation of protein substrates (56). The ATPase ring controls access to the active sites by directly binding to an exposed degron in the substrate to unfold and translocate the denatured polypeptide into the degradation chamber (Figure 1.2) (15).

Proteins slated for degradation must bear a specific signal that is distinct from stable proteins. Degrons vary greatly in complexity and structure. In bacteria, for example, proteins targeted for degradation are often recognized through short peptide sequences encoded in their primary structure. These peptide sequences are often located near or at the N or C terminus of substrates, presumably to make them more accessible for recognition by the AAA+ protease (Figure 1.2). For example, the ClpXP protease attempts to degrade any protein with an accessible Ala-Ala at the C terminus (15). Another strategy for proteolysis regulation is control of degron accessibility, whereby

exposure of degrons requires an additional step. Examples include unfolding of a substrate's secondary structure, a primary cleavage event by another peptidase, subunit dissociation, or a conformational change within the substrate (57, 58).

Another common mechanism used to regulate protein degradation is the covalent addition of polypeptide sequences that mark substrates for destruction. Addition of degradation markers can occur cotranslationally or posttranslationally. In the next sections examples of posttranslational and cotranslational degron attachment will be described.

Ubiquitination

In eukaryotes, the post-translational addition of the ubiquitin protein is the major method for targeting proteins to degradation (43). Ubiquitin is enzymatically cross-linked to substrate proteins for recognition and degradation by the 26S proteasome (46). At least four ubiquitin units must be attached to substrates for efficient proteasome recognition (47). Additionally, subtrates must contain an unstructured region for initiation of unfolding and degradation (44). A series of three enzymatic activities are responsible for fusing the ubiquitin tag onto substrate proteins (Figure 1.3). First, a ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1) forms a thiol-ester bond with the carboxy-terminal glycine of ubiquitin in an ATP-dependent process. E1 then transfers the ubiquitin to the active-site cysteine of E2, an ubiquitin-carrier enzyme, by a *trans*-thiolation reaction. Lastly, an E3 ubiquitin ligase recognizes a specific substrate protein and catalyzes the transfer of ubiquitin from E2 to the substrate by the formation of an isopeptide linkage between a substrate lysine and one ubiquitin, followed by attachment of additional ubiquitins to form a

polyubiquitin chain. There are two E3 families, the HECT familiy and the ring finger family. The ring finger family is believed to mediate the direct transfer of ubiquitin from the E2 to the substrate, whereas the HECT-family forms a thiol-ester intermidiate with ubiquitin as part of the process of substrate ubiquitination (Figure 1.3) (46). Regulation of substrate recognition by the appropriate E3 is the central control point in proteasomal degradation. For example, in humans there are over 600 ubiquitin ligases (46). Additional mechanisms of E3 regulation include inhibition by substrate mimics that lack a modifiable lysine. Finally, the intrinsic de-ubiquitinase of the proteasome, Rpn11, removes the bound ubiquitins by cleaving the isopeptide bond (46).



Figure 1.3. Reaction scheme for Ubiquitination. Free ubiquitin (Ub) is activated by the formation of a thiol-esther linkage between E1 and the C terminus of ubiquitin, in an ATP-dependent manner. Afterwards, ubiquitin is transferred to an ubiquitin carrier protein (E2). E2 then associates with one of the numerous E3s, which might or might not have a substrate already bound. For HECT domain E3s, ubiquitin is transferred to the active site cysteine of the HECT domain followed by transfer to the substrate (S). For RING E3s, the ubiquitin is transferred directly to the substrate. Figure from Weissman, 2001 (59).

Pupylation

For many years, posttranslational modifications that target proteins for degradation were considered an exclusive feature of eukaryotic cells. However, the discovery of pupylation, modification of lysine residues with a prokaryotic ubiquitin-like protein (Pup), revealed that some bacteria use a tagging pathway conceptually similar to ubiquitination to target proteins for degradation. This pathway is essential for mycobacteria to survive nitrogen starvation (60). Despite both being recognition "flags" to target substrates to the proteasome, Pup and ubiquitin differ in sequence, structure, method of activation and conjugation, and mechanism for substrate delivery. For example, Pup is an instrinsically-disordered protein, whereas ubiquitin adopts a β -grasp fold (61, 62).

A Pup ligase, PafA, catalyzes isopeptide bond formation between Pup and substrates. Pupylation is counterbalanced by the depupylation enzyme Dop, which mediates cleavage of the isopeptide bond for the release of Pup from the substrate. After modification, binding of Pup to the N-terminal domain of the PAN AAA+ ring targets substrates to the proteasome. Subsequent engagement of Pup by the AAA+ pore initiates unfolding that leads to the degradation of substrate. Pup is degraded along with the substrate during *in vitro* degradation assays (61).

ssrA tags

A well-characterized example of cotranslational peptide addition in bacteria is the ssrA tagging system, involved in protein quality control in all eubacteria. SsrA tagging occurs when translation stalls. Ribosomal stalling (*e.g.* when an mRNA lacks a proper stop codon) triggers recruitment of the tmRNA tagging and ribosome rescue system. The tmRNA molecule encoded by the *SsrA* gene, which possesses both tRNA- and mRNA-like properties and is charged with an alanine, enters the A site of the ribosome, and alanine is appended to the nascent polypeptide. Afterwards the template switches from

the 3' end of the original mRNA template to the open reading frame of the tmRNA molecule which endcodes the ssrA degron. The sequence and length of the ssrA tag varies (9-36 residues) among baterial species. In *E.coli* the ssrA tag consists of the 11-residue AANDENYALAA-COO⁻ sequence (18, 63). SsrA-tagged substrates are principally degraded by the ClpXP protease, sometimes with the assistance of the SspB adaptor. Adaptor proteins and their mechanism will be described in the adaptor proteins section. In some bacteria with smaller genomes encoding only two proteases, the work of degrading ssrA-tagged substrates is taken up by the Lon protease (64). The ssrA tagging system assures that there is no build-up of aberrant proteins produced during failed translation and facilitates ribosome recycling.

N-degron Pathway

N-degrons are the smallest degradation tags known. This highly conserved degradation pathway relates the stability of a protein to the identity of its N-terminal amino acid (65, 66). Different organisms recognize different amino acids as either stabilizing or destabilizing. N-degron substrates are typically generated by endoproteolytic cleavage (67). For example, degradation of the protein cohesin, which holds together sister chromatids during DNA replication, occurs through the N-degron pathway. Before anaphase, the protease separase cleaves cohesin, revealing an N-degron on the C-terminal fragment. This fragment is then degraded through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (68).

A variety of amino acids are recognized through this pathway as either primary destabilizing amino acids, which are directly recognized, or as secondary or tertiary

destabilizing amino acids, which require further modifications to be recognized (Table 1.1). For example, in bacteria Trp, Tyr, Phe, and Leu are primary destabilizing amino acids, and Arg and Lys act as secondary destabilizing amino acids to which Leu or Phe is appended by specific amino-transferases (Table 1.1) (69).

In eukaryotes, the range of destabilizing amino acids is broader. In addition to the primary residues recognized in bacteria, Ile, His, and Lys also serve as primary destabilizing amino acids (66). Moreover, the eukaryotic N-degron pathway includes tertiary destabilizing amino acids that must be modified twice for recognition (Table 1.1). For example, in *S. cerevisiae* N-terminal Asn is converted to the secondary residue Asp by N-terminal amidohydrolase-catalyzed deamination and further modified by an argininyl transferase (ATE1) that attaches an N-terminal Arg, which is a primary destabilizing amino acid and can be directly recognized (70).

The mechanism of N-degron recognition differs from prokaryotes to eukaryotes. In *E. coli*, the degradation of substrates bearing N-degrons is carried out by the AAA+ protease ClpAP (71). Although ClpAP can recognize and degrade N-degron substrates when they are present at a high concentration, degradation is greatly enhanced by the ClpAP-specific adaptor ClpS (72, 73). In eukaryotes, by contrast, a family of E3 ubiquitin ligases recognizes and covalently modifies N-degron substrates by polyubiquitin addition. The E3 regions that recognize N-degrons are of two classes: type 1/UBR box and type 2/ClpS-like. The UBR box region is responsible for recognizing Lys, Arg, and His N-degrons, whereas the ClpS-like region recognizes hydrophobic side chains (Table 1.1) (74-76).

	Eukaryotes		
Tertiary	Secondary	Primary	Recognized by
N ²	D	RD	Class I or UBR box
(modified by deamidation)	(modified by Arg-ylation)		
Q	E	RE	
(modified by deamidation)	(modified by Arg-ylation)		-
С	C*b	RC*	
(modified by oxidation)	(modified by Arg-ylation)		
		R	
		K	
		н	
		L	Class II or ClpS lik
		F	
		Y	
		W	
		I	1
	Bacteria		
Tertiary	Secondary	Primary	Recognized by
None	R	F/LR	ClpS (class II)
	(modified by Leu or Phe-ylation)		
	K	F/LK	
	(modified by Leu or Phe-ylation)		
	(M) ^c (modified by Leu-ylation)	FM	
		L	
		F	
		Y	

Typical N-end-rule residues, divided in classes, represented in the one letter amino acid code. ${}^{b}C^{}$ denotes oxidized cysteine.

"To date, only one substrate with this modification has been reported (74).

 Table 1.1. N-degron classes in eukaryotes and bacteria.
 Table from Sauer and Baker, 2011

 (15).

Adaptor proteins

An additional level of substrate specificity can be achieved by the use of small acessory proteins, termed adaptors. Adaptors are widely employed proteins that may regulate proteolysis by either preventing or facilitating the degradation of specific substrates (12, 15, 77). A common mechanism used by adaptors to deliver substrates is to bind to a region of the substrate while simultaneously binding to the N-domain of an AAA+ unfoldase and thereby enhance degradation of the substrate by tethering the degron to the AAA+ protease. This tethering mechanism increases the effective local

concentration of the substrate near the processing pore of the protease. Adaptormediated tethering facilitates efficient degradation at low concentrations of substrates, conditions in which substrates alone may not bind efficiently (12, 77). This thesis focuses on the novel active mechanism employed by the *E. coli* adaptor ClpS to deliver N-degron substrates to the ClpAP protease. In the next sections a brief description of various bacterial adaptor proteins is presented to emphasize their importance for cellular homeostasis and the mechanism they utilize for substrate recognition and delivery to their associated AAA+ proteases.

SspB

E. coli SspB is a well-characterized adaptor of the AAA+ ClpXP protease (78-81). SspB is a dimeric adaptor that aids in the degradation of ssrA-tagged substrates. Each monomer of the adaptor contains a substrate-binding groove and a short Clp<u>X-binding</u> (XB) motif. The substrate-binding groove binds the N-terminal portion of the 11-residue ssrA-tag while leaving the two C-terminal residues available for the protease to bind and engage the substrate, allowing the substrate to be bound simultaneously by SspB and the ClpX pore. The XB motif binds specifically to a site on the ClpX N-domain (Figure 1.4) (79-81). Thus, SspB "tethers" the substrate to the protease and increases the local concentration of the ssrA-tag near the ClpX pore.



Figure 1.4. Recognition of the ssrA degron by SspB adaptor. The C-terminal alanines and α -carboxylate of the ssrA tag are recognized by the ClpX pore, wThehereas the N-terminal portion of the ssrA tag binds a grove in the body of the SspB adaptor, which has a tail that binds the N-terminal domain of ClpX. Figure from Sauer 2011 (15).

RssB

Bacteria have evolved a broad range of stress response mechanisms. For example, gram-negative bacteria respond to stress by the synthesis and/or activation of alternative RNA polymerase σ factors that direct transcription of regulons whose gene products counteract stress (82). *E. coli* cells enter stationary phase upon oxygen and nutrient limitation, heat stress, and osmotic stress, and the stress response is mediated by the master stress regulator, σ^{s} . In stationary phase, σ^{s} promotes the expression of ~100 stress response genes (82). Thus, σ^{s} is crucial for cellular homeostasis under stress conditions. Under favorable growth conditions, however, σ^{s} activity must be regulated for cells to resume exponential growth and to limit wasteful synthesis of unnecessary stress proteins. Regulation of σ^{s} activity occurs by tightly controlling its cellular concentration. σ^{s} is degraded by the ClpXP protease, and this degradation is enhanced by the adaptor RssB (82). RssB phosphorylation increases its affinity for σ^{s} and it delivers the substrate to ClpXP apparently by a tethering mechanism similar to that of SspB (83).

UmuD

Bacterial UmuD is a component of DNA polymerase V, an error-prone translesion polymerase. UmuD forms a heterodimer with UmuD', a truncated form of UmuD generated during DNA damage that lacks the first 24 N-terminal residues. Because of its low fidelity, the concentration of pol V must be tightly controlled and rise to a significant concentration only when DNA damage is severe. UmuD functions as a ClpXP adaptor to promote UmuD' degradation. UmuD contains a ClpX N-domain binding site not present in the truncated UmuD'. The UmuD-ClpX interaction positions UmuD' for degradation (84). This mechanism is another example of substrate tethering near the AAA+ processing pore.

MecA

MecA is a monomeric adaptor and obligatory activator of the ClpCP protease (85, 86). Unlike other AAA+ unfoldases, ClpC can only form functional hexamers in the presence of MecA. In *Bacillus subtilis*, the MecA-ClpCP complex is responsible for the degradation of the competence transcription factor, ComK. The adaptor's N-terminal domain recognizes ComK and its C-terminal domain interacts with the ClpC pore and acts as a degradation signal so that the adaptor is degraded with ComK (85, 86). Because MecA is degraded during substrate delivery, the mechanism is reminiscent of the Pupylation system in which Pup is directly recognized and degraded by the proteasome.

ClpS

The small E. coli ClpS protein is the only known adaptor of the ClpAP protease. The

ClpS gene was discovered as a short open reading frame upstream of the *ClpA* gene (87). Its structure consists of a core domain (ClpS^{core}), formed by three α -helices packed against three antiparallel β -strands. The ClpS^{core} contains the substrate binding site as well as the ClpA binding site (73, 74, 88, 89). In addition to this tightly folded core, ClpS has a long and flexible N-terminal region (NTE) that lacks a stable secondary structure (Figure 1.5) (73). ClpS is involved in the N-degron pathway by directly binding to both the destabilizing N-terminal amino acid of a substrate and the ClpA N-domain to deliver the substrate to ClpAP for degradation (71-73, 90). ClpS enhances the rate of degradation of N-degron substrates and inhibits degradation of other substrates (71, 87, 91). For example, unlike ClpAP, ClpAPS cannot degrade ssrA-tagged substrates and does not display autodegradation of the ClpA unfoldase (91).

The mechanism of ClpS substrate delivery is more complex than simple tethering, as evidenced by mutations that preserve enzyme-ClpS-substrate complex formation but eliminate degradation (73, 91). An active hand-off mechanism that requires engagement of the ClpS NTE appears to be required to transfer the ClpS-bound N-degron substrate and allow engagement of the substrate N-terminal region by the ClpA pore (92). Evidence supporting the current view of the ClpS-ClpAP and N-degron early delivery steps are the subject of Chapter 2 and will be further discussed below.



Figure 1.5. The adaptor protein ClpS. The ClpS adaptor has a long, flexible N-terminal extension (NTE; residues 1-25) and a folded core domain (ClpS^{core}; residues 26-106). The ClpS^{core} binds N-degrons and the ClpA N-domain. A substrate's Tyr in the binding pocket is shown in red and ClpA N-domain interacting residues are shown in yellow (Protein Data ID code 301F). Succesful substrate delivery requires that the ClpS NTE be at least 14-aa long (shown in green).

CIPAPS and the N-degron pathway in E.coli

In *E. coli*, the residues Phe, Leu, Trp, or Tyr serve as primary N-end degrons (69). The ClpS adaptor binds these substrates via the N-degron residues and delivers them to the AAA+ ClpAP protease for degradation (71, 74, 89). As mentioned earlier, ClpAP, one of five degradation machines in *E. coli*, consists of the ClpP₁₄ serine protease and the ClpA₆ unfoldase. Each ClpA subunit contains a family specific N-domain and two AAA+ modules (D1 and D2) that form distinct rings in the hexamer (52). The D1 module is believed to play an important role in oligomerization of the unfoldase, whereas the D2 module is responsible for the majority of the ATP hydrolysis, as ClpAP can retain significant degradation activity when ATP hydrolysis mutations are present in the D1

ring (50). However, the activity of both ATPase domains may be especially important for unfolding substrates with high stability.

Degradation of substrates by CIpAP requires initial binding of the degron to the CIpA pore loops. Following engagement of the substrate, CIpA uses the energy of ATP binding and hydrolysis to drive conformational changes within the translocation channel that pull subtrates, this results in unfolding when a folded substrate is pulled against the narrow axial pore. Subsequently, substrates are translocated into the proteolytic chamber in CIpP (15). Although CIpAP can recognize and degrade N-degron substrates without adaptors, the K_M for degradation is dramatically lowered by the CIpAP-specific adaptor CIpS (from 29 μ M without CIpS to 0.6 μ M with CIpS for YLFVQ-titin) (72).

For efficient recognition by ClpS, N-degron substrates must have a free α -amino group, an unstructured region of at least four residues between the N-degron and the folded portion of the substrate, and preferentially neutral or positively charged residues adjacent to the N-degron (56, 74, 93, 94). Crystal structures of ClpS reveal that the substrate's destabilizing N-degron side chain is buried in a deep preexisting hydrophobic cleft on the surface of ClpS (73, 74, 95). Substrate binding is enhanced substantially (~ 100X) when ClpS binds ClpA₆. Reciprocally, N-degron substrate form a stable complex that must be broken for the reaction to continue and substrate to enter the ClpA unfolding pore. Importantly, substrate delivery cannot occur when the NTE of ClpS is deleted or lacks its first 12 amino acids; furthermore, numerous lines of evidence strongly indicate that the ClpA pore engages the NTE much like it engages

substrates, but that ClpS fails to be degraded by ClpAP (73, 91).

The CIpS adaptor: a model for substrate delivery

My thesis work centers on the molecular mechanism employed by the CIpS adaptor to deliver N-degron substrates to CIpAP. Chapter 2 highlights the role of the CIpS N-terminal extension (NTE) in the delivery mechanism and identifies features of the interactions between CIpA and CIpS that are critical for releasing the substrate from CIpAPS to enable the downstream steps of unfolding and degradation (92). Chapter 3 focuses on CIpA-dependent structural rearrengements that CIpS undergoes upon delivery of N-degron substrates as well as the molecular determinants of CIpS that render the adaptor resistant to degradation by CIpAP.

My results suggest that ClpS works together with ClpA in using an active substrate delivery mechanism rather than passive tethering. We propose a model in which, after formation of the high-affinity tertiary complex, ClpA-dependent translocation of the ClpS NTE begins to deform the ClpS^{core} by pulling on the middle β -strand (β 1-strand) of the three-stranded β -sheet. Partial or complete extraction of the β 1-strand of ClpS facilitates substrate transfer by positioning the N-degron–binding pocket close to the ClpA pore and by weakening interactions between the substrate and the ClpS-binding pocket. Subsequently, ClpS resists further unfolding and is released from the ternary complex, allowing the adaptor to refold and translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate to commence (Figure 1.6). Thus, we posit that the ClpS NTE acts as a degradation tag, and ClpS's stability promotes adaptor recycling. This thesis details a novel mechanism in which adaptors act as substrate mimics to collaborate with their

partner AAA+ protease.



Figure 1.6. Model for ClpA-dependent N-degron substrate transfer. After formation of the high-affinity delivery complex ClpA dependent translocation of the ClpS NTE begins to deform the ClpScore by pulling on the middle β 1-strand of the three-stranded β -sheet. Extraction of the β 1-strand of ClpS facilitates substrate transfer by inverting the adaptor, thereby positioning the N-degron-binding pocket close to the ClpA pore, and by weakening interactions between the substrate and the ClpS-binding pocket. Subsequently, $\Delta\beta$ ClpS resists further unfolding and thus is released from the ternary complex, allowing for refolding of the adaptor and translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate to commence.

References

- 1. Neuwald AF, Aravind L, Spouge JL, Koonin EV (1999) AAA+: A class of chaperone-like ATPases associated with the assembly, operation, and disassembly of protein complexes. *Genome Res* 9:27–43.
- 2. Gottesman S (2003) PROTEOLYSIS IN BACTERIAL REGULATORY CIRCUITS11. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 19:565–587.
- 3. Hanson PI, Whiteheart SW (2005) AAA+ proteins: have engine, will work. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6:519–529.
- 4. Glotzer M, Murray A (1991) Cyclin is degraded by the ubiquitin pathway. *Nature*.
- 5. Deshaies RJ, Chau V, Kirschner M (1995) Ubiquitination of the G1 cyclin Cln2p by a Cdc34p-dependent pathway. *EMBO J* 14:303–312.
- 6. Mellman I, Fuchs R, Helenius A (1986) Acidification of the endocytic and exocytic pathways. *Annu Rev Biochem* 55:663–700.
- 7. Ciosk R, Zachariae W, Michaelis C, Shevchenko A (1998) An ESP1/PDS1 complex regulates loss of sister chromatid cohesion at the metaphase to anaphase transition in yeast. *Cell*.
- 8. Uhlmann F, Lottspeich F, Nasmyth K (1999) Sister-chromatid separation at anaphase onset is promoted by cleavage of the cohesin subunit Scc1. *Nature* 400:37–42.
- 9. Schirmer EC, Glover JR, Singer MA (1996) HSP100/Clp proteins: a common mechanism explains diverse functions. *Trends in biochemical*
- 10. Beyer A (1997) Sequence analysis of the AAA protein family. *Protein Science*.
- 11. Vale RD, Milligan RA (2000) The way things move: looking under the hood of molecular motor proteins. *Science*.
- Dougan DA, Mogk A, Zeth K, Turgay K, Bukau B (2002) AAA+ proteins and substrate recognition, it all depends on their partner in crime. *FEBS Lett* 529:6– 10.
- 13. Ogura T, Wilkinson AJ (2001) AAA+ superfamily ATPases: common structure– diverse function. *Genes to Cells*.
- 14. Haslberger T et al. (2008) Protein disaggregation by the AAA+ chaperone ClpB involves partial threading of looped polypeptide segments. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:641–650.
- 15. Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) AAA+ Proteases: ATP-Fueled Machines of Protein Destruction. *Annu Rev Biochem* 80:587–612.

- 16. Tu GF, Reid GE, Zhang JG, Moritz RL (1995) C-terminal extension of truncated recombinant proteins in Escherichia coli with a 10Sa RNA decapeptide. *Journal of Biological*
- 17. KoMINE Y, Kitabatake M, Yokogawa T (1994).
- Keiler KC, Waller PR, Sauer RT (1996) Role of a peptide tagging system in degradation of proteins synthesized from damaged messenger RNA. *Science* 271:990–993.
- 19. Kim YI, Burton RE, Burton BM, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2000) Dynamics of substrate denaturation and translocation by the ClpXP degradation machine. *Molecular Cell* 5:639–648.
- 20. Flynn JM et al. (2001) Overlapping recognition determinants within the ssrA degradation tag allow modulation of proteolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98:10584–10589.
- 21. Striebel F, Kress W, Weber-Ban E (2009) Controlled destruction: AAA+ ATPases in protein degradation from bacteria to eukaryotes. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 19:209–217.
- 22. Matyskiela ME, Martin A (2013) Design Principles of a Universal Protein Degradation Machine. *J Mol Biol* 425:199–213.
- 23. Wang J, Hartling JA, Flanagan JM (1997) The structure of CIpP at 2.3 A resolution suggests a model for ATP-dependent proteolysis. *Cell* 91:447–456.
- 24. Botos I et al. (2004) The Catalytic Domain of Escherichia coli Lon Protease Has a Unique Fold and a Ser-Lys Dyad in the Active Site. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279:8140–8148.
- 25. Pickart CM, Cohen RE (2004) Proteasomes and their kin: proteases in the machine age. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 5:177–187.
- 26. Bochtler M, Hartmann C, Song HK, Bourenkov GP (2000) The structures of HsIU and the ATP-dependent protease HsIU–HsIV. *Nature*.
- 27. Lander GC et al. (2012) nature10774. Nature 482:186–191.
- 28. Lasker K, Förster F, Bohn S (2012), pp 1–8.
- 29. Glynn SE, Martin A, Nager AR, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2009) Structures of Asymmetric ClpX Hexamers Reveal Nucleotide-Dependent Motions in a AAA+ Protein-Unfolding Machine. *Cell* 139:744–756.
- 30. Stinson BM et al. (2013) Nucleotide Binding and Conformational Switching in the Hexameric Ring of a AAA+ Machine. *Cell* 153:628–639.
- 31. Yamada-Inagawa T, Okuno T, Karata K, Yamanaka K, Ogura T (2003)

Conserved Pore Residues in the AAA Protease FtsH Are Important for Proteolysis and Its Coupling to ATP Hydrolysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278:50182–50187.

- 32. Siddiqui SM, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2004) Role of the processing pore of the CIpX AAA+ ATPase in the recognition and engagement of specific protein substrates. *Genes & Development* 18:369–374.
- 33. Hinnerwisch J, Fenton WA, Furtak KJ, Farr GW, Horwich AL (2005) Loops in the Central Channel of ClpA Chaperone Mediate Protein Binding, Unfolding, and Translocation. *Cell* 121:1029–1041.
- 34. Zhang F et al. (2009) Mechanism of Substrate Unfolding and Translocation by the Regulatory Particle of the Proteasome from Methanocaldococcus jannaschii. *Molecular Cell* 34:485–496.
- 35. Groll M, Ditzel L, Löwe J, Stock D, Bochtler M (1997) Structure of 20S proteasome from yeast at 2.4 A resolution. *Nature*.
- 36. Tanaka K (2009).
- 37. Schrader EK, Harstad KG, Matouschek A (2009) Targeting proteins for degradation. *Nat Meth* 5:815–822.
- 38. Glickman MH, CIECHANOVER A (2002) The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. *Physiol Rev* 82:373–428.
- 39. Baumeister W, Walz J, Zühl F, Seemüller E (1998) The proteasome: paradigm of a self-compartmentalizing protease. *Cell* 92:367–380.
- 40. Groll M et al. (2000) A gated channel into the proteasome core particle. *Nat Struct Biol* 7:1062–1067.
- 41. Dahlmann B, Kloetzel PM, Finley D, Schmidt M (1999) The base of the proteasome regulatory particle exhibits chaperone-like activity. *Nature cell*
- 42. Lawson TG, Velayutham M, Zweier JL, Pickart CM (2002) A proteasomal ATPase subunit recognizes the polyubiquitin degradation signal. *Nature*.
- 43. Deveraux Q, Ustrell V, Pickart C, Rechsteiner M (1994) A 26 S protease subunit that binds ubiquitin conjugates. *J Biol Chem* 269:7059–7061.
- 44. Prakash S, Tian L, Ratliff KS, Lehotzky RE, Matouschek A (2004) An unstructured initiation site is required for efficient proteasome-mediated degradation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 11:830–837.
- 45. Ciechanover A (1994) The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. *Cell* 79:13–21.
- 46. Hershko A, Ciechanover A (1998) The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem
67:425-479.

- 47. Thrower JS, Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M (2000) Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *The EMBO*
- 48. Inobe T, Matouschek A (2014) Paradigms of protein degradation by the proteasome. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 24:156–164.
- 49. Goldberg AL (1992) The mechanism and functions of ATP-dependent proteases in bacterial and animal cells. *Eur J Biochem* 203:9–23.
- 50. Kress W, Mutschler H, Weber-Ban E (2009) Both ATPase domains of ClpA are critical for processing of stable protein structures. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284:31441–31452.
- 51. Krüger E, Völker U, Hecker M (1994) Stress induction of clpC in Bacillus subtilis and its involvement in stress tolerance. *J Bacteriol* 176:3360–3367.
- 52. Grimaud R, Kessel M, Beuron F, Steven AC, Maurizi MR (1998) Enzymatic and structural similarities between the Escherichia coli ATP-dependent proteases, ClpXP and ClpAP. *J Biol Chem* 273:12476–12481.
- 53. Suno R et al. (2006) Structure of the Whole Cytosolic Region of ATP-Dependent Protease FtsH. *Molecular Cell* 22:575–585.
- 54. Singh SK et al. (2001) Functional Domains of the ClpA and ClpX Molecular Chaperones Identified by Limited Proteolysis and Deletion Analysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276:29420–29429.
- 55. Sundar S, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2012) The I domain of the AAA+ HsIUV protease coordinates substrate binding, ATP hydrolysis, and protein degradation. *Protein Science* 21:188–198.
- 56. Thompson MW, Maurizi MR (2001) Activity and specificity of Escherichia coli ClpAP protease in cleaving model peptide substrates. *J Biol Chem* 269:18201– 18208.
- 57. Flynn JM, Neher SB, Kim YI, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2003) Proteomic discovery of cellular substrates of the ClpXP protease reveals five classes of ClpX-recognition signals. *Molecular Cell* 11:671–683.
- 58. Kowit JD, Goldberg AL (1977) Intermediate steps in the degradation of a specific abnormal protein in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- 59. Weissman AM (2001) Themes and variations on ubiquitylation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2:169–178.
- 60. Pearce MJ, Mintseris J, Ferreyra J, Gygi SP, Darwin KH (2008) Ubiquitin-like protein involved in the proteasome pathway of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Science* 322:1104–1107.

- 61. Striebel F, Imkamp F, Özcelik D, Weber-Ban E (2014) Pupylation as a signal for proteasomal degradation in bacteria. *BBA Molecular Cell Research* 1843:103–113.
- 62. Burns KE, Liu W-T, Boshoff HIM, Dorrestein PC, Barry CE (2009) Proteasomal protein degradation in Mycobacteria is dependent upon a prokaryotic ubiquitin-like protein. *J Biol Chem* 284:3069–3075.
- 63. Karzai AW, Roche ED, Sauer RT (2000) The SsrA-SmpB system for protein tagging, directed degradation and ribosome rescue. *Nat Struct Biol* 7:449–455.
- 64. Gottesman S, Roche E, Zhou Y, Sauer RT (1998) The ClpXP and ClpAP proteases degrade proteins with carboxy-terminal peptide tails added by the SsrA-tagging system. *Genes & Development* 12:1338–1347.
- 65. Varshavsky A (1992) The N-end rule. Cell 69:725–735.
- 66. Bachmair A, Finley D, Varshavsky A (1986) In vivo half-life of a protein is a function of its amino-terminal residue. *Science* 234:179–186.
- 67. Dougan DA, Micevski D, Truscott KN (2011) The N-end rule pathway: From recognition by N-recognins, to destruction by AAA+proteases. *BBA Molecular Cell Research*:1–9.
- 68. Rao H, Uhlmann F, Nasmyth K, Varshavsky A (2001) Degradation of a cohesin subunit by the N-end rule pathway is essential for chromosome stability. *Nature* 410:955–959.
- 69. Tobias J, Shrader T, Rocap G, Varshavsky A (1991) The N-end rule in bacteria. *Science* 254:1374–1377.
- 70. Varshavsky A (1996).
- 71. Erbse A et al. (2006) ClpS is an essential component of the N-end rule pathway in Escherichia coli. *Nature* 439:753–756.
- 72. Wang KH, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2007) ClpS modulates but is not essential for bacterial N-end rule degradation. *Genes & Development* 21:403–408.
- 73. Roman-Hernandez G, Hou JY, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) The ClpS Adaptor Mediates Staged Delivery of N-End Rule Substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP Protease. *Molecular Cell* 43:217–228.
- 74. Wang KH, Roman-Hernandez G, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) The Molecular Basis of N-End Rule Recognition. *Molecular Cell* 32:406–414.
- 75. Lupas AN, Koretke KK (2003) Bioinformatic analysis of ClpS, a protein module involved in prokaryotic and eukaryotic protein degradation. *Journal of Structural Biology* 141:77–83.

- 76. Tasaki T et al. (2009) The substrate recognition domains of the N-end rule pathway. *J Biol Chem* 284:1884–1895.
- 77. Baker TA, Sauer RT (2006) ATP-dependent proteases of bacteria: recognition logic and operating principles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 31:647–653.
- 78. Wah DA, Levchenko I, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2002) Characterization of a specificity factor for an AAA+ ATPase: assembly of SspB dimers with ssrA-tagged proteins and the ClpX hexamer. *Chemistry & Biology* 9:1237–1245.
- 79. Levchenko I (2000) A Specificity-Enhancing Factor for the ClpXP Degradation Machine. *Science* 289:2354–2356.
- 80. Levchenko I, Grant RA, Wah DA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2003) Structure of a delivery protein for an AAA+ protease in complex with a peptide degradation tag. *Molecular Cell* 12:365–372.
- 81. Bolon DN, Wah DA, Hersch GL, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2004) Bivalent tethering of SspB to ClpXP is required for efficient substrate delivery: a protein-design study. *Molecular Cell* 13:443–449.
- 82. Muffler A, Fischer D, Altuvia S, Storz G (1996) The response regulator RssB controls stability of the sigma (S) subunit of RNA polymerase in Escherichia coli. *The EMBO*
- 83. Gottesman S, Hoskins JR, Maurizi MR (2001) The RssB response regulator directly targets ςS for degradation by ClpXP. *Genes* &
- 84. Neher SB, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2003).
- 85. Turgay K, Hamoen LW, Venema G (1997) ... characterization of a molecular switch involving the heat shock protein ClpC, which controls the activity of ComK, the competence transcription factor of Bacillus subtilis Genes &
- 86. Kirstein J et al. (2006) Adaptor protein controlled oligomerization activates the AAA+ protein ClpC. *EMBO J* 25:1481–1491.
- 87. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 88. Zeth K, Dougan DA, Cusack S, Bukau B, Ravelli RB (2002) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of the Escherichia coli adaptor protein CIpS, free and in complex with the N-terminal domain of CIpA. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* 58:1207–1210.
- 89. Román-Hernández G, Grant R (2009).
- 90. Guo F (2002) Crystal Structure of ClpA, an Hsp100 Chaperone and Regulator of ClpAP Protease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:46743–46752.

- 91. Hou JY, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Distinct structural elements of the adaptor ClpS are required for regulating degradation by ClpAP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:288–294.
- 92. Rivera-Rivera I, Román-Hernández G, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2014) Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.*
- 93. Wang KH, Oakes ESC, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Tuning the Strength of a Bacterial N-end Rule Degradation Signal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283:24600–24607.
- 94. De Donatis GM, Singh SK, Viswanathan S, Maurizi MR (2010) A Single ClpS Monomer Is Sufficient to Direct the Activity of the ClpA Hexamer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285:8771–8781.
- 95. Zeth K et al. (2002) Structural analysis of the adaptor protein CIpS in complex with the N-terminal domain of CIpA. *Nat Struct Biol* 9:906–911.

Chapter Two

Remodeling of a delivery complex allows CIpS-mediated degradation of N-degron

substrates

This chapter is a modified version of the paper that was previously published as Rivera-Rivera I, Román-Hernández G, Sauer RT, Baker TA. Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014 Sep 16;111(37):E3853-9. I Rivera and G Román performed the experiments. I Rivera, Sauer RT and Baker TA prepared the manuscript.

Abstract

The ClpS adaptor collaborates with the AAA+ ClpAP protease to recognize and degrade N-degron substrates. ClpS binds the substrate N-degron and assembles into a high-affinity ClpS-substrate-ClpA complex, but how the N-degron is transferred from ClpS to the axial pore of the AAA+ ClpA unfoldase to initiate degradation is not known. Here, we demonstrate that the unstructured N-terminal extension (NTE) of ClpS enters the ClpA processing pore in the active ternary complex. We establish that ClpS promotes delivery only in *cis*, as demonstrated by mixing ClpS variants with distinct substrate specificity and either active or inactive NTE truncations. Importantly, we find that ClpA engagement of the ClpS NTE is crucial for ClpS-mediated substrate delivery by using ClpS variants carrying "blocking" elements that prevent the NTE from entering the pore. These results support models in which enzymatic activity of ClpA actively remodels ClpS to promote substrate transfer, and highlights how ATPase/motor activities of AAA+ proteases can be critical for substrate selection as well as protein degradation.

Introduction

AAA+ molecular machines power cellular processes as diverse as protein degradation, microtubule severing, membrane fusion, and initiation of DNA replication, with the common theme that macromolecules are actively remodeled (1-3). Furthermore, protein-quality control in all organisms involves deployment of ATP-dependent proteases, consisting of hexameric AAA+ rings that unfold and translocate specific substrates into an associated peptidase barrel (3, 4). Adaptor proteins assist in recognition and degradation of certain substrates (5-8), but how enzyme-adaptor pairs ensure proper substrate selection is poorly understood.

In prokaryotes and eukaryotes, the N-end rule pathway governs degradation of proteins with specific N-terminal amino acids (9, 10). In *E. coli* the primary destabilizing N-degron amino acids are Phe, Tyr, Trp, and Leu (11, 12). ClpS, a widespread bacterial adaptor, recognizes and delivers N-degron substrates to the ClpAP or ClpCP AAA+ proteases (6, 11, 13). These enzymes consist of the AAA+ ClpA or ClpC unfoldases coaxially stacked with the ClpP peptidase (14-16). In eukaryotes, a family of E3 ligases shares homology with the substrate-binding region of ClpS (17, 18). These ligases recognize N-degron substrates and promote ubiquitination, which then targets the modified protein to the 26S proteasome (17, 18).

Multiple crystal structures reveal the regions of ClpS that bind to the N-degron as well as a patch that binds the N-terminal domain of ClpA (19-22). This bivalent binding to the substrate and the enzyme tethers N-degron substrates to ClpAP. However, tethering alone is insufficient for ClpS to promote substrate delivery as deletion of 13 amino acids of the ClpS unstructured N-terminal extension (NTE, residues 1-25 in *E. coli* ClpS; Fig. 2.1A) prevents N-degron substrate degradation but does not block formation of a high-affinity delivery ternary complex (HADC) consisting of substrate, the ClpS adaptor, and the ClpAP protease (Fig. 2.1B) (19). Importantly, the identity of the NTE sequence is not critical for ClpS function (23). An active delivery model has been proposed in which the translocation pore of ClpA engages the ClpS NTE with subsequent translocation that remodels the delivery complex to achieve substrate engagement (Fig. 2.1C) (19).

Here, we investigate how the ClpS NTE functions during delivery of N-degron substrates. We show that the NTE can only promote delivery of substrates that are bound to the same ClpS molecule. Furthermore, we demonstrate that the NTE enters the ClpA translocation pore and provide strong evidence that ClpA pulls on the ClpS NTE to trigger substrate delivery.



Figure 2.1. Model for the active delivery mechanism employed by ClpS. (A) The adaptor protein ClpS has a long flexible N-terminal region (NTE, residues 1-25) and a folded core domain (ClpS^{core}, residues 26-106). ClpS^{core} binds N-degrons (a substrate Tyr in the binding pocket is shown in red) (PDB code 301F). Successful substrate delivery requires that the ClpS NTE be at least 14 amino acids long (shown in green). (B) Formation of a high-affinity delivery complex (HADC) between ClpS and ClpA (19) involves formation of additional contacts between ClpA, ClpS, and the N-degron substrate. Assembly of this complex increases the affinity of the substrate for ClpAS ~100-fold. (C) Current model for ClpA-driven disassembly of the HADC and N-degron substrate delivery. Translocation-mediated ClpA "pulling" on the NTE remodels the ClpS^{core} structure, weakens ClpS interactions with the N-degron, and facilitates its transfer to a site in the ClpA pore. Finally, because ClpS cannot be unfolded by ClpA (19), the adaptor escapes the enzyme and the substrate is unfolded by ClpA and subsequently degraded by ClpP.

Results

The CIpS NTE acts in cis during substrate delivery

Multiple CIpS-substrate complexes can dock on the N-domains of a single CIpA hexamer (23-25). As previously established, an NTE of at least 14 amino acids is necessary for CIpS to deliver an N-degron substrate (Fig. 2.1A) (19). However, whether the NTE acts in *cis* to deliver the substrate bound to its own CIpS molecule or in *trans* to activate delivery of a substrate bound to another CIpS molecule is unknown. The optimal ratio of CIpS to ClpA hexamer in the delivery complex is not established, but many ratios yield functional complexes (23-25). To test whether the ClpS NTE acts in *cis* or in *trans*, we monitored delivery of substrates by mixtures of ClpS variants with a full-length functional NTE or truncated non-functional NTE (ClpS^{Δ13}) and a wild-type or M40A (ClpS^{M40A}) N-degron-binding pocket. The ClpS^{M40A} variant recognizes β-branched (Val and Ile) residues, termed *N-degrons, in addition to natural *E. coli* N-degrons (Tyr, Leu, Phe, and Trp) (Fig. 2.2) (20).

In one experiment (Fig. 2.2A; left panel), ClpS and ClpS^{Δ 13/M40A} were mixed with ClpAP, an N-degron dipeptide (to promote formation of a high-affinity delivery complex (19)), as well as the *N-degron substrate VLFVQELA-GFP. In this experiment, the functional NTE was provided by wild-type ClpS, whereas the *N-degron substrate only bound ClpS^{Δ 13/M40A} (20). If engagement of the NTE can work in *trans*, then *N-degron substrate delivery would be observed. However, if engagement of the NTE functions only in *cis*, then the absence of a functional NTE in ClpS^{Δ 13/M40A} would prevent degradation of the *N-degron substrate. Upon addition of ATP, the *N-degron substrate was not efficiently degraded (Fig. 2.2B, pink trace). Under conditions similar to those used for the degradation experiment, fluorescence-anisotropy experiments established that a fluorescently labeled $ClpS^{\Delta 13/M40A}$ variant bound ClpA tightly (Fig. 2.2C). Hence, the absence of efficient degradation of the *N-degron substrate was not caused by a failure of $ClpS^{\Delta 13/M40A}$ to bind ClpAP. Rather, these data indicate that the NTE does not function *in trans* to trigger substrate delivery. To ensure that $ClpS^{M40A}$ with a functional NTE was able to perform substrate delivery under the conditions of this assay, we mixed it with $ClpS^{\Delta 13}$ (non-functional NTE), ClpAP, N-degron peptide and *N-degron substrate (Fig. 2.2A, right panel). In this case, the *N-degron substrate was efficiently degraded (Fig. 2.2B). Together, these experiments show that delivery requires a functional substrate-binding pocket and a functional NTE within the same ClpS molecule.



Figure 2.2. The CIpS NTE delivers N-degron substrates *in cis.* (A) Cartoon shows the protein variants for mixing experiments performed to test *cis* vs *trans* activation by the CIpS-NTE. Although present, the N-degron peptide (Phe-Val) is not depicted. (B) Degradation of the *N-degron substrate (VLFVQELA-GFP) by CIpAP. Only when the full-length functional NTE and *N-degron binding pocket were present on the same molecule was this substrate efficiently degraded (*cis* delivery experiment, blue trace). The mixing experiments contained each of the CIpS variants shown in (A) (1.2 μ M each), 1 μ M of an N-degron peptide and 1 μ M of *N-degron substrate. (C) Binding of fluorescein labeled CIpS^{Δ13/M40A} to CIpA₆ (100 nM) in the presence of ATPγS (2 mM), CIpS (1.2 μ M), N-degron peptide (1 μ M), and N*-degron peptide (1 μ M) as assayed by fluorescence anisotropy (K_D=112 ± 13 nM). Experiments performed by I Rivera-Rivera.

CIpS NTE physically enters the CIpA pore

Previous studies suggested a model in which N-degron substrate delivery requires engagement of the CIpS NTE by the CIpA translocation pore (Fig. 2.1C) (19, 23). To test this model directly, we used Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) between a

donor fluorophore (EDANS) at the entrance of the ClpP proteolytic chamber (ClpP residue 17, adjacent to the bottom of the ClpA pore, ClpP^{ED}) (26) and an acceptor fluorophore (fluorescein) placed at different positions either along the ClpS NTE or on the surface of the folded domain (Fig. 2.3A). The calculated Förster radius for the EDANS-fluorescein pair is ~46 Å. Based on the dimensions of ClpC, a close relative of ClpA, a distance of ~100 Å separates the top of the ClpA pore from the ClpP neck (16). As a consequence, robust FRET would only be expected if a fluorescein dye on ClpS were able to enter the ClpA pore.

When residue 5 of the ClpS NTE was labeled with fluorescein (ClpS^{5-Fl}) and incubated with ClpAP^{ED}, N-degron substrate, and ATPgS (Fig. 2.3B), FRET was observed between the donor and acceptor dyes. Excitation of the donor fluorophore in ClpP^{ED} increased acceptor fluorescence (525 nm) and decreased donor fluorescence (475 nm) (Fig. 2.3B, red trace) compared to the sum of the spectra of each component alone (Fig. 2.3B, gray trace). If this signal resulted from FRET between the NTE and ClpP^{ED}, then reduced signal would be expected if the fluorescein were placed at position 17 of the ClpS NTE, a more C-terminal location which should be farther from ClpP. Furthermore, little or no FRET would be predicted if the dye were attached to ClpS residue 96, near the N-degron-binding pocket and far from the NTE (Fig. 2.3A). This pattern of FRET signals was observed (Fig. 2.3C), supporting our hypothesis that the ClpS NTE enters the ClpA axial pore with its N-terminal residues reaching close to the ClpA-ClpP complex junction.

To test further if FRET between ClpS^{5-FI} and ClpP^{ED} occurs because the NTE is located within the pore, rather than on the surface of the enzyme, we repeated the experiment with donor dye at NTE position 5 in the presence of the solution quencher 4-amino-TEMPO (4-amino-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl), which has an anhydrous diameter of ~10 Å and therefore should not diffuse into the ClpA pore efficiently (27). Indeed, fluorescence of free ClpS^{5-FI} was quenched ~30% by 4-amino-TEMPO, whereas quenching of the fluorescence of ClpS^{5-FI} in complex with ClpAP^{ED} and substrate was less than 5% (Fig. 2.3D). Together, these results support a model in which the ClpS NTE enters the ClpA pore in the ClpAPS-substrate complex.



Figure 2.3. The ClpS NTE localizes inside the ClpA pore. (A) Cartoon of the protein variants used in the FRET experiments. Three single-cysteine variants of ClpS were labeled with fluorescein (acceptor fluorophore, yellow star). The labeled positions were C5 and C17, both sites in the ClpS NTE (ClpS^{5-Fl} and ClpS^{17-Fl}), and C96, which is in the ClpS core domain (ClpS^{96-Fl}). Unlabeled ClpA was used with a ClpP variant in which residue 17 of each subunit was changed to cysteine and labeled with EDANS (donor fluorophore, green star; CIpP^{ED}). This ClpP variant also contained the S97A active-site mutation (28). (B) Emission spectra of the donor fluorophore in ClpP^{ED} upon excitation at 336 nm in the presence of ClpA₆ and ATPyS (black trace). Emission spectra of the acceptor fluorophore in CIpS^{5-FI} upon excitation at 336 nm in the presence of ATPyS (green trace). Addition spectra of the two independent traces obtained from the emission of the donor and acceptor proteins (gray line). Observed emission spectra characteristic of FRET obtained in reactions containing ATPyS, ClpS^{5-FI}, ClpAP^{ED}, and the N-degron substrate YLFVQ- titin I27 (red trace). The red arrow pointing up at ~525 nm marks an increase in fluorescence of the acceptor fluorophore and the red arrow pointing down at ~475 nm depicts the decreased signal of the donor fluorophore. (C) FRET was also observed when the experiment in (B) was repeated with CIpS^{17-FI} as the acceptor molecule (red; left panel). In contrast, no FRET was detected when the acceptor molecule was ClpS^{96-FI} (red trace; right panel). (D) ClpS^{5-Fl} fluorescence was insensitive to the fluorescence quencher 4-amino-Tempo when bound in a complex with ClpAP^{ED} and N-degron substrate. Experiments performed by G Román-Hernández.

Increasing the length of the CIpS NTE results in truncation by CIpP

As an orthogonal method to determine if the CIpS NTE enters the CIpA pore during Ndegron delivery, we constructed an NTE₂-ClpS variant with a duplicated NTE (Fig. 2.4A). We reasoned that if the NTE enters the CIpAP pore during N-degron delivery, then the longer NTE₂ sequence would enter the ClpP chamber, where it can be cleaved by the ClpP active sites. Control experiments revealed that NTE₂-ClpS delivered the Ndegron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP for degradation, albeit somewhat less efficiently than ClpS (Fig. 2.4B). Importantly, during these time-course delivery experiments, the NTE₂-ClpS both delivered N-degron substrate and was truncated by ClpP (Fig. 2.4B-C). Truncation of the NTE₂-ClpS depended on the ATP-driven translocation activity of ClpA, as it did not occur either in the absence of ATP or with the poorly-hydrolyzed analog, ATPyS (Fig. 2.4C). N-terminal sequencing of the smallest truncated ClpS species revealed that 19 amino acids of NTE2-ClpS had been removed, leaving the native ClpS sequence with an additional 9 N-terminal residues that originated from the NTE duplication (Fig. 2.4C). Such NTE₂-ClpS cleavage by ClpP strongly supports the model in which the NTE of wild-type ClpS is engaged by the ClpA axial pore during delivery of N-degron substrates.

We observed slightly slower N-degron degradation rates for ClpS variants with longer NTEs, including NTE₂-ClpS, H₆-Sumo-ClpS (Fig. 2.4D) ((19), and H₆-DHFR-ClpS (see next section) (29). Slower steady state delivery may be a result of slower engagement of the extended NTE in the ClpS-substrate complex or slower dissociation of the longer NTE ClpS upon substrate delivery. Single molecule experiments show ClpA

translocates unfolded polypepetides at a rate of 30 aa/sec (30), so it is unlikely that longer NTEs significantly decrease the rate of N-degron degradation.



Figure 2.4. ClpAP cleaves an extended ClpS NTE. (A) Cartoon of the NTE₂-ClpS variant. (B) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate, YLFVQELA-GFP, to ClpAP in the absence of ClpS, in the presence of NTE₂-ClpS or in the presence of wild-type ClpS. Degradation was monitored by the decrease in substrate fluorescence. (C) Truncation of NTE₂-ClpS was observed during delivery of N-degron substrates to ClpAP in the presence of ATP but was not observed without ATP or with ATPγS. N-terminal sequencing of the lowest molecular weight product revealed an NTE "tail" of 34 amino acids. This "trimmed" NTE₂-ClpS truncation product is depicted as a cartoon below the top panel. (D) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate, YLFVQELA-GFP, to ClpAP in the absence of ClpS, in the presence of H₆-Sumo-ClpS or in the presence of wild-type ClpS. Degradation was monitored by the decrease in substrate fluorescence. Experiments performed by I Rivera-Rivera.

Antagonizing NTE engagement inhibits N-degron substrate delivery

To probe if entry of the ClpS NTE into the ClpA pore is required for substrate delivery, we constructed a ClpS variant with mouse dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) attached to the N-terminus of the ClpS NTE (H₆-DHFR-ClpS; Fig. 2.5A). In our experiment, the N-terminal H₆ tag of DHFR served as a ClpA degron (19), and the DHFR domain of this substrate was unfolded and degraded by ClpAP, exposing the ClpS NTE (Fig. 2.5B, left panel). As expected from other studies of DHFR degradation by AAA+ proteases (31), addition of methotrexate stabilized DHFR and prevented truncation of the DHFR-ClpS chimera by ClpAP (Fig. 2.5B, right panel).

Importantly, the H₆-DHFR-CIpS adaptor promoted degradation of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP in the absence but not the presence of methotrexate (Fig. 2.5C). Interestingly, H₆-DHFR-CIpS stimulated degradation of YLFVQELA-GFP only after a lag of ~100 s, suggesting that degradation of the DHFR domain is prerequisite for NTE engagement and subsequent substrate delivery (Fig. 2.5C). As expected, methotrexate did not inhibit wild-type CIpS delivery of YLFVQELA-GFP to CIpAP (Fig. 2.5C). Furthermore, H₆-DHFR-CIpS assembled normally with CIpAP, ATPγS, and a fluorescent N-degron peptide (LLYVQRSDEC-^{fl}) both in the absence and presence of methotrexate (Fig. 2.5D). Thus, the degradation defect caused by blocking entry of the CIpS NTE into the CIpA pore appears to occur at a step after assembly of the initial substrate-adapter-enzyme ternary complex.

Together, experiments with the H₆-DHFR-ClpS chimera demonstrate that preventing entry of the ClpS NTE into the ClpA pore inhibits delivery and degradation of ClpS-

54

bound N-degron substrates. These results strongly support a model in which engagement and partial translocation of the ClpS NTE through the ClpA pore is an essential step in the delivery of N-degron substrates.



Figure 2.5. Engagement of the ClpS NTE is necessary for delivery of N-degron substrates. (A) Cartoon of the H₆-DHFR-ClpS fusion protein. (B) Cartoon of results obtained upon addition of ClpAP and ATP to H₆-DHFR-ClpS in the absence or presence of methotrexate. Protein processing was monitored by Western blotting of the H₆-DHFR-ClpS protein with anti-ClpS antisera. ClpAP-dependent cleavage of the fusion protein and release of a truncated ClpS adaptor (with an available NTE) was observed in the absence of methotrexate (left), whereas no processing of the fusion protein was detected when methotrexate was present (right). (C) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP by ClpAP promoted by either H₆-DHFR-ClpS or ClpS in the presence and absence of methotrexate. (D) Formation of a high affinity delivery complex by ClpS (K_{app}= $35 \pm 1 \text{ nM}$), H₆-DHFR-ClpS (K_{app}= $107 \pm 17 \text{ nM}$), and H₆-DHFR-ClpS in the presence of methotrexate (K_{app}= $119 \pm 21 \text{ nM}$) assayed by anisotropy using a fluorescent N-degron peptide. Experiments performed by I Rivera-Rivera.

Discussion

Regulation of macromolecular complexes is commonly implemented by forming multiple weak binary interactions that synergistically stabilize the complex (19, 32). Stable complexes can serve as checkpoints in a sequential mechanism to enhance specificity but can also make downstream steps slow or inaccessible if stabilizing interactions must be broken before the next step can occur. AAA+ enzymes play important roles in catalyzing both the remodeling and destabilizing macromolecular complexes, including the examples of severing microtubules and promoting both assembly and critical reaction transitions during RNA splicing (1, 2, 19, 32, 33).

Previous studies established that adaptor-mediated recognition of several substrates by AAA+ proteases involves formation of a high-affinity complex between the enzyme, substrate, and adaptor (19, 34-39). The delivery complex consisting of ClpAP, N-degron substrate, and the ClpS adaptor is one such example (Fig. 2.1B) (19). Here, we identify features of the interactions between ClpA and ClpS that are critical for releasing substrate from this high-affinity complex and thus enabling the downstream steps of unfolding and degradation. Our FRET and protein-processing experiments demonstrate that the NTE enters the ClpA pore during substrate delivery. Importantly, we also find that engagement of the NTE by the ClpA pore is essential for ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates. Consistent with these observations, prior experiments establish that the ClpS NTE can act as a ClpAP degradation tag when attached to other proteins (19).

Why is engagement of the ClpS NTE by the ClpA pore critical for transfer of the Ndegron of the substrate from ClpS to the ClpA pore? At the simplest level, ATPdependent translocation of the ClpS NTE through the ClpA pore pulls the folded domain of ClpS against the pore entrance, distorting the folded structure of ClpS and catalyzing release of the N-degron from the binding pocket (Fig. 2.1C). Because the NTE and Ndegron-binding pocket are on opposite sides of the ClpS molecule, however, if the substrate were released far from the entrance to the ClpA pore, it would be poorly positioned for efficient pore capture. As discussed below, one possibility is that conformational changes in ClpS, caused by ClpA pulling, place the N-degron-binding pocket close to the entrance to the ClpA pore and allow transfer of the N-degron or nearby segments of the protein substrate (Fig. 2.6) (40).

One speculative model is that NTE-tugging by ClpA both distorts and inverts ClpS by at least transiently pulling out the β -strand proximal to the NTE (β 1-Strand), which is part of a three-stranded β -sheet (Fig. 2.6A-C). Pulling this central strand out of the sheet and into the ClpA pore would flip the remaining $\Delta\beta$ ClpS structure relative to ClpA (Fig. 2.6C), positioning the N-degron-binding pocket close to the axial pore for transfer (Fig. 2.6B-D). In this model, $\Delta\beta$ ClpS remains stably folded but has reduced N-degron affinity, facilitating transfer of the substrate to ClpA. This model also requires that $\Delta\beta$ ClpS not be globally denatured and degraded by ClpAP, as it has been established that ClpS is not degraded during delivery (19). There is precedent for this type of β -strand extraction by AAA+ unfoldases. For example, we note that ClpXP initially extracts a terminal β strand from a sheet in GFP-ssrA without causing global unfolding (41, 42). Moreover, under some conditions, the extracted β -strand appears to slip from the pore of the AAA+

unfoldase, allowing refolding to native GFP (42). For the ClpS-delivery model, we suggest that following transfer of the N-degron, a slipping event could also allow $\Delta\beta$ ClpS to refold and therefore restore native ClpS. This reaction would re-invert the structure and favor ClpS escape, as its affinity for the ClpA N domain is weaker without bound N-degron (19).

A strong prediction of any NTE-tugging model is that an NTE would only promote delivery of a substrate bound to the same ClpS molecule, and would not influence delivery of substrates bound to different molecules of ClpS, even if they were bound to the same ClpA hexamer. Our results strongly support this *cis*-only aspect of ClpS NTE function, as we found that only N-degron substrates bound to a ClpS molecule with a functional NTE were degraded by ClpAP. These results support an NTE-pulling model, and argue against models in which the NTE simply serves as an allosteric activator of ClpA (23). During substrate transfer, both the ClpS NTE and the N-terminal residues of the N-degron substrate may need to occupy the ClpA pore. We assume that these multiple polypeptide chains can be accommodated in the ClpA pore as experiments with the related ClpXP enzyme show that pore engagement of multiple polypeptides is possible (43).

Parallels can be drawn between our active handoff model and other protein-degradation systems. For example, the SspB adaptor delivers ssrA-tagged substrates to ClpXP protease via the formation of a high-affinity ternary complex that involves interactions between SspB dimers, the N-domain(s) of ClpX, and a segment of the ssrA-degron (5,

36, 37). In this case, the complex is broken and initiation of substrate degradation proceeds when the CIpX translocation pore engages the ssrA-degron (5, 36, 39, 44). Translocation of this initiation region of the substrate serves to break interactions in the ternary complex, allowing degradation to begin and the adaptor to be recycled. An unstructured initiation region is also required for unfolding and degradation by the proteasome (45-47). Proteins are targeted to the proteasome by a two-part degradation signal, which consists of a disordered region within the substrate and a polyubiquitin tag. The proteasome recognizes the ubiquitin tag and initiates unfolding at the unstructured region within the substrate. Once the proteasome has engaged its substrate, the polyubiquitin tag is cleaved off by de-ubiquitination enzymes, allowing recycling of ubiquitin. For ClpXP-SspB degradation of ssrA-tagged proteins and degradation of substrates by the proteasome, disassembly of the complex occurs when the initiation region on the substrate is engaged. In contrast, for ClpS-mediated delivery, the unstructured region required for complex disassembly is provided instead by the adaptor, which in turn is recycled as it escapes degradation (Fig. 2.6). However, an initiation region in the substrate is also necessary for transfer to CIpA and substrate unfolding (40, 48). In the case of N-degron substrates, this dual-initiation active handoff allows delivery of substrates whose degron is a single N-terminal amino acid that is recognized with high affinity by the ClpS adaptor but only with low affinity by ClpA.

60



Figure 2.6. Model for ClpA-dependent N-degron substrate transfer. After formation of the high-affinity delivery complex ClpA dependent translocation of the ClpS NTE begins to deform the ClpScore by pulling on the middle β 1-strand of the three-stranded β -sheet. Extraction of the β 1-strand of ClpS facilitates substrate transfer by inverting the adaptor, thereby positioning the N-degron-binding pocket close to the ClpA pore, and by weakening interactions between the substrate and the ClpS-binding pocket. Subsequently, $\Delta\beta$ ClpS resists further unfolding and thus is released from the ternary complex, allowing for refolding of the adaptor and translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate to commence.

Materials and Methods

Proteins and peptides

Mutants were generated by the QuickChange method (Stratagene) or PCR. ClpS, ClpS mutants, and substrates were purified as described (19). Briefly, ClpS, ClpS mutants, and substrates were initially fused to the C terminus of H₆-Sumo in pet23b (Novagen). Following expression, fusion proteins were purified by Ni-NTA chromatography (QIAGEN) and cleaved with Ulp1 protease. The cleaved H₆-Sumo fragment was removed by passage through Ni-NTA, and the protein of interest was purified by gel filtration on Superdex 75 (GE Healthsciences) and/or ion-exchange chromatography on MonoQ. ClpS variants were concentrated and stored in 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 150 mM KCl, 1 mM DTT, and 10 % glycerol. ClpA, ClpP, and ClpP^{ED} were purified as described (19). As ClpS variants were purified using the Sumo-fusion and Ulp1 cleavage method, the N-terminal methionine of ClpS should be present. Previous publications have either used Sumo-cleavage or native expression for ClpS variants (19, 23). The N-degron (LLFVQRDSKEC) and N^{*}-degron (ILYVQRDEKEC) peptides were synthesized by standard FMOC techniques using an Apex 396 solid-phase instrument.

Fluorescent Labeling

Peptides were labeled with fluorescein maleimide as described (20). Labeled ClpS variants and ClpP^{ED} were labeled with fluorescein maleimide and EDANS maleimide, respectively as described (19). Briefly, ClpS variants (50 μ M) and ClpP containing a single cysteine were incubated with 50 mM DTT in 100 mM TrisCl (pH 8) for 1.5 h at 4° C, buffer exchanged into 100 mM Na₂PO₄ (pH 8), and 1 mM EDTA. The variants were

then singly labeled by addition of 0.3 mg/mL of fluorescein maleimide or EDANS maleimide (Thermo Scientific) for 2 h at room temperature in the dark. Excess reagent was removed by size-exclusion chromatography, and the modified protein was stored in 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 200 mM KCl, and 1 mM DTT.

FRET Experiments

FRET experiments were performed using a Photon Technology Internal Fluorimeter. ClpA₆ (200 nM), ClpP^{ED} (200 nM), ClpS^{*} variants (200 nM), N-degron substrate YLFVQtitin I27 (500 nM) (48), ATPγS (2 mM), and AT-Quencher (10 μ M) when necessary, were incubated for 10 min at 30 °C in reaction buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.5], 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM DTT, and 10 % glycerol) at 30 °C before taking a spectrum. Samples were excited at 336 nM and emission scans were taken from 400 to 600 nM.

Degradation Assays and Western Blots.

ClpAPS degradation assays were performed as described (48). Briefly, ClpA₆ (100 nM), ClpP₁₄ (200 nM), and ClpS variants (1 μ M) were preincubated in reaction buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.5], 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM DTT, and 10 % glycerol) with YLFVQELA-GFP or VLFVQELA-GFP (1 μ M), and methotrexate (10 μ M, Sigma-Aldrich[®]), when necessary, for 3 min at 30 °C before adding ATP regeneration mix (4 mM ATP, 50 mg/mL creatine kinase, 5 mM creatine phosphate) or ATPγS (2 mM) to initiate assay. GFP degradation was assayed by loss of fluorescence. Reported kinetic parameters were averages ($n \ge 3$) ± 1 SD. Formation of ClpS truncation products was monitored by SDS-PAGE and western blotting as described (23). Briefly, samples were separated by SDS-PAGE followed by an anti-ClpS western blot. For *cis/trans* experiments, degradation assays were conducted using the same conditions but with 1.2 µM of ClpS or ClpS variants and 1 µM Phe-Val dipeptide.

Binding Assays

Binding assays, monitored by fluorescence anisotropy, were performed using a Photon Technology International Fluorimeter. Data were fitted using a quadratic equation for tight binding. Reported K_{app} values are averages (n \geq 3) with errors calculated as SQRT([K- K_{avg}]²/n).

Acknowledgements

We thank A. Olivares, B. Stinson, J. Kardon, B. Stein, A. Torres-Delgado, S. Calmat, V. Baytshtok, and J. Grabenstatter for helpful discussions and advice, and E. Weber-Ban for providing the mutated active site ClpP construct. This work was supported in part by the NIH Pre-Doctoral Training Grant T32GM007287, by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI) and the National Institutes of Health grants GM-49224 and Al-16892. T.A.B. is an employee of HHMI.

References

- 1. Neuwald AF, Aravind L, Spouge JL, Koonin EV (1999) AAA+: A class of chaperone-like ATPases associated with the assembly, operation, and disassembly of protein complexes. *Genome Res* 9:27–43.
- 2. Hanson PI, Whiteheart SW (2005) AAA+ proteins: have engine, will work. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6:519–529.
- 3. Gottesman S, Maurizi MR (1992) Regulation by proteolysis: energy-dependent proteases and their targets. *Microbiol Rev* 56:592–621.
- 4. Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) AAA+ Proteases: ATP-Fueled Machines of Protein Destruction. *Annu Rev Biochem* 80:587–612.
- 5. Wah DA, Levchenko I, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2002) Characterization of a specificity factor for an AAA+ ATPase: assembly of SspB dimers with ssrA-tagged proteins and the ClpX hexamer. *Chemistry & Biology* 9:1237–1245.
- 6. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 7. Mogk A et al. (2004) Broad yet high substrate specificity: the challenge of AAA+ proteins. *Journal of Structural Biology* 146:90–98.
- 8. Baker TA, Sauer RT (2006) ATP-dependent proteases of bacteria: recognition logic and operating principles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 31:647–653.
- 9. Bachmair A, Finley D, Varshavsky A (1986) In vivo half-life of a protein is a function of its amino-terminal residue. *Science* 234:179–186.
- 10. VARSHAVSKY A (2008) Discovery of cellular regulation by protein degradation. *J Biol Chem* 283:34469–34489.
- 11. Tobias J, Shrader T, Rocap G, Varshavsky A (1991) The N-end rule in bacteria. *Science* 254:1374–1377.
- 12. Finley D, Varshavsky A (1986) In vivo half-life of a protein is a function of its amino-terminal residue. *Science*.
- 13. Wang KH, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2007) ClpS modulates but is not essential for bacterial N-end rule degradation. *Genes & Development* 21:403–408.
- 14. Cranz-Mileva S et al. (2008) The Flexible Attachment of the N-Domains to the ClpA Ring Body Allows their Use On Demand. *J Mol Biol* 378:412–424.
- 15. Effantin G, Ishikawa T, De Donatis GM, Maurizi MR, Steven AC (2010) Local and Global Mobility in the ClpA AAA+ Chaperone Detected by Cryo-Electron Microscopy: Functional Connotations. *Structure/Folding and Design* 18:553–562.

- 16. Wang F et al. (2011) Structure and mechanism of the hexameric MecA-ClpC molecular machine. *Nature* 471:331–335.
- 17. Lupas AN, Koretke KK (2003) Bioinformatic analysis of ClpS, a protein module involved in prokaryotic and eukaryotic protein degradation. *Journal of Structural Biology* 141:77–83.
- 18. Tasaki T, Kwon YT (2007) The mammalian N-end rule pathway: new insights into its components and physiological roles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 32:520–528.
- 19. Roman-Hernandez G, Hou JY, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) The ClpS Adaptor Mediates Staged Delivery of N-End Rule Substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP Protease. *Molecular Cell* 43:217–228.
- 20. Wang KH, Roman-Hernandez G, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) The Molecular Basis of N-End Rule Recognition. *Molecular Cell* 32:406–414.
- 21. Zeth K et al. (2002) Structural analysis of the adaptor protein ClpS in complex with the N-terminal domain of ClpA. *Nat Struct Biol* 9:906–911.
- 22. Zeth K, Dougan DA, Cusack S, Bukau B, Ravelli RB (2002) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of the Escherichia coli adaptor protein ClpS, free and in complex with the N-terminal domain of ClpA. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* 58:1207–1210.
- 23. Hou JY, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Distinct structural elements of the adaptor ClpS are required for regulating degradation by ClpAP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:288–294.
- 24. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 25. De Donatis GM, Singh SK, Viswanathan S, Maurizi MR (2010) A Single ClpS Monomer Is Sufficient to Direct the Activity of the ClpA Hexamer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285:8771–8781.
- 26. Kolygo K et al. (2009) Studying chaperone–proteases using a real-time approach based on FRET. *Journal of Structural Biology* 168:267–277.
- 27. Hamman BD, Chen JC, Johnson EE, Johnson AE (1997) The aqueous pore through the translocon has a diameter of 40-60 A during cotranslational protein translocation at the ER membrane. *Cell* 89:535–544.
- Kress W, Mutschler H, Weber-Ban E (2007) Assembly Pathway of an AAA+ Protein: Tracking ClpA and ClpAP Complex Formation in Real Time †. Biochemistry 46:6183–6193.
- 29. Rivera-Rivera I, Román-Hernández G, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2014) Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.

- 30. Olivares AO, Nager AR, Iosefson O, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2014) nsmb.2885. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 21:871–875.
- 31. Lee C, Schwartz MP, Prakash S, Iwakura M, Matouschek A (2001) ATPdependent proteases degrade their substrates by processively unraveling them from the degradation signal. *Molecular Cell* 7:627–637.
- 32. Wahl MC, Will CL, Lührmann R (2009) The Spliceosome: Design Principles of a Dynamic RNP Machine. *Cell* 136:701–718.
- 33. Vale RD (2000) AAA proteins. Lords of the ring. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 150:F13–9.
- 34. Levchenko I (2000) A Specificity-Enhancing Factor for the ClpXP Degradation Machine. *Science* 289:2354–2356.
- 35. Levchenko I, Baker T, Sauer R (2002) Characterization of a Specificity Factor for an AAA+ ATPase:: Assembly of SspB Dimers with ssrA-Tagged Proteins and the ClpX Hexamer. *Chemistry & Biology*:1–9.
- 36. Bolon DN, Wah DA, Hersch GL, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2004) Bivalent tethering of SspB to CIpXP is required for efficient substrate delivery: a protein-design study. *Molecular Cell* 13:443–449.
- 37. Levchenko I, Grant RA, Wah DA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2003) Structure of a delivery protein for an AAA+ protease in complex with a peptide degradation tag. *Molecular Cell* 12:365–372.
- 38. Martin A, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2008) Diverse pore loops of the AAA+ ClpX machine mediate unassisted and adaptor-dependent recognition of ssrA-tagged substrates. *Molecular Cell* 29:441–450.
- 39. Bolon DN, Grant RA, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2004) Nucleotide-Dependent Substrate Handoff from the SspB Adaptor to the AAA+ ClpXP Protease. *Molecular Cell* 16:343–350.
- 40. Erbse A et al. (2006) ClpS is an essential component of the N-end rule pathway in Escherichia coli. *Nature* 439:753–756.
- 41. Martin A, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2008) Protein unfolding by a AAA+ protease is dependent on ATP-hydrolysis rates and substrate energy landscapes. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:139–145.
- 42. Nager AR, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2011) Stepwise Unfolding of a β Barrel Protein by the AAA+ CIpXP Protease. *J Mol Biol* 413:1–13.
- 43. Burton RE, Siddiqui SM, Kim YI, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2001) Effects of protein stability and structure on substrate processing by the CIpXP unfolding and

degradation machine. EMBO J 20:3092-3100.

- 44. McGinness KE, Bolon DN, Kaganovich M, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2007) Altered tethering of the SspB adaptor to the ClpXP protease causes changes in substrate delivery. *J Biol Chem* 282:11465–11473.
- 45. Inobe T, Fishbain S, Prakash S, Matouschek A (2011) Defining the geometry of the two-component proteasome degron. *Nature Chemical Biology* 7:161–167.
- 46. Inobe T, Matouschek A (2014) Paradigms of protein degradation by the proteasome. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 24:156–164.
- 47. Prakash S, Tian L, Ratliff KS, Lehotzky RE, Matouschek A (2004) An unstructured initiation site is required for efficient proteasome-mediated degradation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 11:830–837.
- 48. Wang KH, Oakes ESC, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Tuning the Strength of a Bacterial N-end Rule Degradation Signal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283:24600–24607.

Chapter Three

Delivery of N-degron substrates to the CIpAP protease requires structural

rearrangements within the ClpS adaptor protein

Abstract

The ClpS adaptor delivers N-degron substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP protease for degradation, but the molecular mechanism of delivery is poorly understood. We find that ClpA engagement of the ClpS N-terminal extension (NTE) drives structural rearrangements in ClpS and that these rearrangements are important for N-degron substrate delivery. Additionally, our preliminary experiments suggest that ClpS is able to resist degradation by ClpAP due to a combination of a high local stability and a challenging translocation sequence at the junction of the NTE and folded core domain. We propose a model in which ClpA remodels ClpS by translocating the NTE, triggering delivery of the N-degron substrate. Many other AAA+ enzymes that collaborate with adaptor proteins, or remodel/disassemble protein complexes without degradation as the end result may employ similar mechanisms.

Introduction

Regulated protein degradation is involved in biological processes including protein quality control, the initiation of appropriate transcriptional responses to cellular stress, and the control of protein life span, among others (1-4). In all kingdoms of life, AAA+ proteases recognize their substrates and then use cycles of ATP binding and hydrolysis to unfold and translocate the denatured polypeptide into a compartmental peptidase for degradation (5). The ability of these enzymes to recognize their substrates with accuracy is important for efficient degradation of target proteins and minimization of off-target degradation. In bacteria, AAA+ proteases often recognize substrates via short accessible peptide sequences called degradation tags or degrons (4, 5). Substrate degrons are recognized directly by the protease, and, in some cases, accessory adaptor proteins aid in substrate recognition. Adaptor proteins can deliver specific substrates to the protease and/or prevent degradation of other classes of substrates to their partner AAA+ proteases is not yet understood.

The ubiquitious N-degron pathway relates the *in vivo* half-life of a protein to the identity of its N-terminal residue (6). In bacteria, the hydrophobic residues Tyr, Phe, Trp, and Leu serve as primary destabilizing residues (7). Moreover, proteins containing an Nterminal Arg or Lys are converted to N-degron substrates by addition of an N-terminal Phe or Leu in a reaction catalyzed by the Aat aminoacyl transferase (7).

ClpS, a small monomeric adaptor protein, binds and delivers N-degron substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP or ClpCP proteases (7-9). These proteases are composed of ring-shaped

hexamers of the ClpA or ClpC ATPases stacked on barrel-shaped tetradecamers of the ClpP peptidase, which contains the proteolytic chamber (10-12). ClpS shares a region of homology with the hydrophobic residue recognizing N-degron E3-ligase proteins from eukaryotes, strongly suggesting that eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems use a common mode of N-degron recognition (13).

Escherichia coli ClpS has a folded core domain (residues 26-106) and an unstructured N-terminal extension (NTE; residues 1-25; Figure 3.1A) (14-16). Additionally, the ClpS NTE pocesses a region (residues 22-25 of the ClpS NTE; termed junction sequence throughout this chapter) that is substantially conserved among CIpS orthologs, in contrast to the very weak conservation of most of the NTE (Fig 3.1A, 3.4A) (16). The CIpS NTE is engaged by the CIpA translocation pore during substrate delivery and this engagement is necessary for delivery of N-degron substrates (16, 17). The mechanistic underpinnings of this requirement, however, remain incompletely understood. We have proposed an active delivery mechanism in which ClpA-dependent translocation of the ClpS NTE begins to deform the ClpS^{core} by pulling on the middle β -strand (β 1-strand) of the three-stranded β-sheet (Fig. 3.1B). Partial or complete extraction of the β1-strand of ClpS, in turn, facilitates substrate transfer by positioning the N-degron-binding pocket close to the CIpA pore while simulatiously weakening interactions between the substrate and the ClpS-binding pocket. Subsequently, ClpS is released from the ClpA pore, allowing for refolding and recycling of the adaptor and translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate (Fig. 3.1B) (17).

72
Here, we investigate structural rearrangements within the $ClpS^{core}$ that accompany substrate delivery. We use a method that relies on short distance quenching of a fluorescent dye by a transition metal ion (tmFRET; (18)) to visualize conformational changes in the $ClpS^{core}$ upon N-degron substrate delivery. Furthermore, we demonstrate the importance of these conformational changes in the delivery of N-degron substrates. Additionally, mutational analysis combined with chemical denaturation experiments provide strong evidence that a combination of a high local stability of the β -sheet in ClpS adjacent to a challenging translocation sequence renders the ClpS adaptor resistant to degradation by ClpAP and allows for adaptor recycling.



Β.



Figure 3.1. Model for ClpA- and nucleotide- dependent N-degron substrate transfer. (A) The adaptor protein ClpS has a long flexible N-terminal region (NTE, residues 1-25) and a folded core domain (ClpS^{core}, residues 26-106). ClpS^{core} binds N-degrons (a substrate Tyr in the binding pocket is shown in red) (PDB code 3O1F). The sequence LKPPS, termed the junction sequence, is important for ClpS's undegradability (shown in magenta). (B) After formation of a ternary delivery complex ClpA-dependent translocation of the ClpS NTE begins to deform the ClpS^{core} by pulling on the middle β 1-strand of the three-stranded β -sheet. Extraction of the β 1-strand of ClpS facilitates substrate transfer by inverting the adaptor, thereby positioning the N-degron-binding pocket close to the ClpA pore, and by weakening interactions between the substrate and the ClpS-binding pocket. Subsequently, the remaining structure ($\Delta\beta$ ClpS) resists further unfolding and thus is released from the ternary complex, allowing for refolding of the adaptor and translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate to commence.

Results

The β1-strand of ClpS is mobile during N-degron substrate delivery

Engagement of the ClpS NTE by the translocation machinery of ClpA is necessary for delivery of N-degron substrates (16, 17, 19). We have hypothesized that nucleotidefueled tugging of the NTE partially or completely extracts the β1-strand of ClpS to remodel the N-degron binding pocket and facilitate substrate transfer (Fig. 3.1B) (17). This model predicts ClpA- and nucleotide-dependent conformational changes within the ClpS^{core}. To test for structural rearrangements in the ClpS^{core} we performed tmFRET experiments (18) (Fig. 3.2), which rely on short-distance guenching of a fluorescent dye by a transition-metal ion (18). In our experiments, quenching is determined by the distance between a fluorescein dve, attached via maleimide chemistry to S26C in the NTE of ClpS, and a Cu²⁺ ion chelated by an α -helical His-X3-His motif in a proximal α helix of the ClpS^{core} (Fig. 3.2A) The His-X3-His motif was engineered by introducing A78H and E82H mutations, and the removal of the endogenous reactive ClpS cysteines (C73V/C101S). We refer to the resulting variant as ClpS^{tmFRET}. Importantly, unlabeled ClpS^{tmFRET} delivered an N-degron substrate with wild-type-like activity in the absence of Cu²⁺ (Fig. 3.2B) and ClpS^{tmFRET} labeled with fluorescein formed a stable complex with ClpA and N-degron substrates in the presence of Cu²⁺ (Fig. 3.2C). The calculated distance for half-maximal guenching, R_0 , for the Cu²⁺-fluorescein pair is ~16 Å, and the modeled distance between fluorescein and Cu2+ in the native conformation of ClpStmFRET (based on PDB 301F) is ~13 Å. Thus, we expected robust quenching of unperturbed ClpS^{tmFRET} and decreased guenching upon β 1-strand extraction.

First, we took emission spectra of fluorescein at increasing concentrations of Cu^{2+} to monitor the Cu^{2+} -dependent fluorescence quenching of CIpS^{tmFRET}. As expected, we

observed that fluorescence decreased as the concentration of Cu^{2+} increased (Fig. 3.2D). We observed a Cu^{2+} concentration-dependent quenching similar to that reported by Taraska *et al.* suggesting that observed quenching is due to Cu^{2+} binding to the His-X3-His motif.

Figure 3.2E, shows fluorescence emission spectra of CIpS^{tmFRET} in complex with Ndegron substrate and ClpA, in the presence of either ATPγS (blue trace) or ATP (green trace). Notably, addition of ATPγS resulted in less quenching than in the absence of nucleotide and ClpA and at a lower Cu²⁺ concentration (red trace), suggesting that ClpS^{tmFRET} is restructured in this condition. Indeed, ATPγS supports engagement of the ClpS NTE deep within the ClpA pore based on previous FRET experiments probing the engagement of the ClpS NTE by the ClpA translocation pore (17). Addition of ATP, which is hydrolyzed much more quickly than ATPγS and supports higher levels of machine function, resulted in a modest but highly reproducible decrease in quenching of ClpS^{tmFRET} (green trace). Importantly, addition of nucleotide had no effect on ClpS^{tmFRET} fluorescence in the absence of Cu²⁺ (Figure 3.2F). Our results are consistent with ClpAand nucleotide-dependent remodeling of the ClpS^{core} structure.



Figure. 3.2. The β1-strand of ClpS is remodeled during substrate delivery. (A) Cartoon of ClpS^{tmFRET}. Positions 78 and 81 of ClpS (orange) were mutated to histidine for chelation of Cu²⁺ (blue circle). Fluorescein is shown at position 26 of the NTE (FI). (B) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP to ClpAP in the absence of ClpS, in the presence of ClpS^{tmFRET} or in the presence of WT ClpS. Degradation was monitored by the decrease in substrate fluorescence. (C) Binding of ClpS^{tmFRET} (500 nM) to ClpA₆ in the presence of ATPγS (2 mM), N-degron peptide (1 μM) and, CuSO₄ (500 μM), measured by fluorescence anisotropy (K_D < 200 nM; because K_D < ClpS concentration K_D is not well determined). (D) Quenching of ClpS^{tmFRET} upon excitation at 495 nm at increasing concentrations of CuSO₄. (E) Emission spectrum of 500 nM ClpS^{tmFRET} upon excitation at 495 nm at 10 cuSO₄ (500 μM), and NTA (4 mM); (green) ClpA₆ (1 μM), N-degron peptide (1 μM), ATPγS (2mM), CuSO₄ (500 μM), and NTA (4 mM); (red) CuSO₄ (200μM). (F) Emission spectrum of 500 nM ClpS^{tmFRET} upon excitation at 495 nm ATP (2mM), CuSO₄ (500 μM), and NTA (4 mM); (red) CuSO₄ (200μM). (F) Emission spectrum of 500 nM ClpS^{tmFRET} upon excitation at 495 nm in the presence of (black) ClpA₆ (1 μM), N-degron peptide (1 μM), N

Restricting movement of the β1-strand inhibits N-degron substrate delivery

As an orthogonal test of structural rearrangements within the ClpS^{core}, we sought to restrict the mobility of the β 1-strand by introducing a disulfide crosslink between the β 1strand and the adjacent α-helix. We searched the crystal structure of ClpS and found one pair of cysteine substitutions with good geometry (Y28C/A81C). We cloned and purified this CIpS variant, henceforth termed locked-CIpS, under denaturing conditions and refolded either under oxidizing (by addition of copper phenanthroline) or reducing conditions (by addition of DTT). Locked-ClpS that had been refolded under reducing conditions displayed wild-type-like delivery of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP (Fig 3.3B). By contrast, locked-ClpS refolded under oxidizing conditions displayed a significant defect in delivery of the N-degron substrate, as assayed by degradation (Fig 3.3B). Importantly, the oxidized locked-ClpS formed a stable complex with ClpA, with wild-type-like affinity, suggesting that the defect in N-degron substrate degradation is in the delivery step rather than in the formation of the delivery complex (Fig. 3.3C). The observed ~20% activity of oxidized locked-ClpS relative to wild type could correspond to non-oxidized contaminant or the less efficient intrinsic activity of the disulfidecrosslinked variant. Future quantification of crosslinking efficiency will discriminate between these possibilities.

Taken together, the tmFRET and locked-ClpS experiments suggest that conformational changes within the ClpS^{core} occur during the ClpA translocation of the ClpS NTE for delivery of N-degron substrates and that these conformational changes are important for delivery.



Figure 3.3. Crosslinking the β 1-strand inhibits delivery of N-degron substrates. (A) Cartoon of locked ClpS. Cysteine mutations are depicted in cyan. (B) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP to ClpAP in the absence of ClpS, in the presence of oxidized locked-ClpS, in the presence of reduced locked-ClpS, or in the presence of WT ClpS. Degradadtion was monitored by the decrease in substrate fluorescence. (C) Formation of a stable complex by oxidized locked-ClpS (K_{app} = 70 ± 12 nM) and ClpS (K_{app} = 58 ± 7 nM assayed by anisotropy using a fluorescent N-degron peptide.

The CIpS junction sequence contributes to degradation resistance

Although the ClpS NTE enters the ClpA pore during substrate delivery (17) and the data presented above demonstrate a ClpA- and nucleotide-dependent conformational change in the ClpS^{core}, ClpS is resistant to degradation by the ClpAP protease (16, 20). What molecular features promote ClpS resistance to degradation, and is degradation-resistance important for substrate delivery? To answer these questions, we performed site-directed mutagenesis to produce degradable ClpS variants. Given that the rate at which AAA+ proteases unfold/degrade different substrates correlate with the local mechanical stability of the structural element(s) most directly adjacent to the peptide sequence being pulled (21, 22) we focused on the region where ClpA should initially encounter ClpS's folded structure: the junction between the NTE and ClpS^{core} (Fig.3.1A). Additionally, the junction sequence is substantially conserved among ClpS orthologs, in contrast to the very weak conservation of most of the NTE, suggesting that it may play an additional functional role in adaptor mechanism (Fig. 3.4A).

We introduced alanine substitutions at P24 and P25 to generate CIpS^{PP/AA}. When added to a reaction containing CIpAP, and ATP, CIpS^{PP/AA} was degraded (Fig. 3.4B, top panel). We also introduced P24N and P25N substitutions to generate CIpS^{PP/NN}. Similarly to wild type, CIpS^{PP/NN} resisted degradation by CIpAP (Fig. 3.4C). Taken together, these results suggest that the specific sequence of the CIpS NTE-core junction plays an important role in determining susceptibility to degradation. Interestingly, addition of N-degron peptide substrate significantly inhibited CIpS^{PP/AA} degradation (Fig. 3.4B, bottom panel), suggesting that N-degron substrate binding stabilizes the CIpS^{core} structure. Furthermore, CIpS^{PP/AA} was able to degrade an N-

degron substrate, albeit slower than wild type ClpS, suggesting that degradationresistance is not essential for adaptor function (Figure 3.4D).

	ClpS junction										
Α.	ClpSI	NTE	7			ClpS core					
		10 dð		50	***	1 10	100	110	125	135	
INFIGAIQUICLES ECOLIN-101		NOWL DE DOL AEEKVRI	ALKPPSMYNUL	VNDOYTPHERY	OVLOKFES	OVERATOLNEAY	HYQOKATCOVETA	EVALTEVANY	NKYARENEHPL	CTLEKA	
WORZEDBCLPS YERPEN-100		NOWINFERLYKOKOLI	ALOPPSMYNYLL	NODYTPHEFY	IDVLOKFFS .	CREATE NEW	HYDEKA I COVETA	EVALTEVAN	NOVARENENPL	CTLEKA	
ADICADA MICLAST ANALON-101		·····WNDAVTKPKTRTKT-	KVERPKLHEVIL	ADDYTPREFY	TNILKAETR-	TEROAYKVNITA	HELGACYVAVETR	OVALTEATRA	TOAGRAKGYPL	FTTEPEE	
ADICOMMASICLPS1 AMILO/7-109 ADICOMACIC/PS1 AMICPA/1-103	NQ NQQQDGN	·····EAG··RETAVITETEI	KYERPKENEVIL	NODY TPHEN	WHULERFRO-K	COREAATRINE HU	HNHGVG: COVYIF HORGYCVVGVFIK	EVALTE VSGV	TOAGRAKGYPL	STEPEE	
SELECTION COLORIDATION		DEPE 00 AVQTAP	ELKRPPLYAVVL	NODYTPHOPY	IEILOOY#A-L	NL DOATOVEL TV	NYEGKGYAGYYPR	DIALTRANGY	NNYARSOGNPL	GQ E PKD	
XDIA4SHLBCLPS_ALINO/1-108 XDIB4ST/RSCLPS_ALINO/1-108		·····NAISIEKEKOKOAGRO	CKPOPPPMYKYLL	NNDDYIPMDFY	IEVLMOFFN-	DAEKANGLILI	HYCSKAVCOIFIA	LIASTKYVGY	NOYARKHOMPLI	CINEGA	
MAINAUSCLPS_AZOSB/1-102		QKQDOFVLEAKR	RERPPELYKVLL	NOOFTPHOFY	IVVLOKYF8-	DR RATRVILOV	HREGMOVCOVFPR	BIASTRVEGY	VSFARDHOHPL	CVNEEN	
solorWC1/CLPS_BORPE1-104	88.	TLDTQHDVVVEKQ	RTAPPPNYQVVL	LNOOYTPMERY	VKYLOKFFO	INSEDATR INLOV	HHEBRAYCOVYPR	BLAATE I AGY	SQYARARDHPL	2C IN PT	
MIGROSCHICLPS BRUSUM-118	MRRINTING GKTNGO	BOKODS SVI FRKE	KTRKPSLYNVLL	NODYTPHEFY	WHYLORFFQ	KNLDDATRINLHV	HNHOVOECOVFTY HREGBOVCOVYTR	BLASTEVEOU	VTHARDAGHPL	CVNEKK	
WQM6RCLPS_CAUCR/1-119	NICPPGENKSMAERKOGO		KTOKPOLYRVL I	NDDYTPHEFY	VYVLERFEN	SREDATRIML HV	HONGVOVCOVYTY	EVALTENADY	DEARRHOHPL	CTNEKD	
WQOPWITICLPS_CAMUE1-06 WQDWRW1ICLPS_CHRVC/1-106	WKYD W ST	SVKDD AQLEASR	RENPPPMYNVLL	NODF TPMDF	VQVLQQFFH-	NREKATHINLOV	NTQGHOVCGVYIK	OVAATEVEOV	LOYAKAHONPLO		
WIG977311CLPS CLOABY-101		WSL KTSFDEN I KQKI	IK EKPKNYNVIL	HNDBYTTMEFY	IEILINVEN-	KVPANAVK I TPDV	HKNG I GI AGVYPY	DIAATEINEY	KKLAYKNGYPL	CE TINGEV	
ID[OBWFND[CLPS_CORDV1-113		LOVYL SSSNAT PSL DEEMAVE	ASSENL PHMCI V	MODPUNLMSYN	TYVFOTIL -ON	SKERATEL MNOV	HTEGKAVVSEGER		HT AG	ATN0056	
INCOMPARENTS DEPROVED	······	TRPT PPOPPOAEORTOTLER	ETKEPREWEVLL	HEDBY TOMOTO	VALLMOIPS -	KTEREAEL INLAW	HHKGOGYAGVYTR	SVAETEVAGY	HOLAEGNEPPL	ROSLEKE	
#10/28W4CLPS_DESW41-104		····WSNOPLAPGYDSDILVE	DOWRL PRINT RVLL	HNDDYT FMERY	VSILVEV/R-	KTAEQATA INLAV	MRDEVOLCOVYTP	EVALTEAAL	HARAEREGYPL	CITELV	
spicecostriclas_evenctatione spicecostriclas_evenctatione	MGNN	RTWSQSESLTADQQK	VORKPMPLYNYLL	HROCHI PANY	EVLAKI PK	NO PSKARK INLEA	HYCCKA I COVPBA	EHAEF YEESL	NRENLISIVEP	GEL EKA	
NORF780(CLPS_GLUOX1-119	-MOPESPOS - PPHOPONG		RTRKPSHYNUL	LNDDYTPHEFY	WHYLERFFA-S	KTRDEATSINLOV	HOROYGICOVFTY	EVAESEVIGY	HOLARDNOHPL	GTIEKD	
SUA407TBICLPS_HERAR/1-152			KL KPPSWYQYLL	LNDDYTPHEFY	WHILDEVES	CORETATO INLAN	HROSKSICOVYPK	DIASTRVEL	LNHARKAGHPL	CVMEEV	
MIGOCAEBICLPS HYPNAM-118 MIGGROCECUPS (DE.OV.102	NKG88NS68PGG6GTG0	DHONLSDTEEK	KTKKPSLYRVLL	NUDBYTPHEFN	VEILERFEN - F	RSREQATE MLHM	HOKEVEL COVYTY HYKEKAVCOVYEA	ELAETEVAQU	LOLARRHEHPL	CTN BQE	
10467108CLP8_JANMA/1-102			OKL KPPSWYQVLL	NODYTPHEFY	WLILDEYES .	CORETATO INLN	HROCKOICGVYPK	DIASTEVEL	LNHARKAGHPL	CVMEEV	
WIRSKYRZICLPS_ALEP91-105 WIQSKITECLPS_LEGPA/1-111	MSKQNL		TALKEPRKYNYLL	ANDBAI SWDYA	WENLEHFEH-	NEEVAIDVMLQ	MEQOXOVCOVETR	DIALTEVAL	NEVARMNEHPL	SSMEPE	
WORKHONCLPS LEPINY-111	MSD	IFREDTEEQTL TKEK	KI KKPSKYRVI I	LNDDPTPMEPY	WWILCHVFH - I	RSRAESCOINE KA	HITGKAL COVYSH	OVA STEVACY	QQLAEQHGYPL	CTNEVEEGEEES	
IDICIONALCLPS MAGSA/1-119	-NOPRSKHTENSENENDKR	DGDDG .QTGVV IKTR	PKTKKPSWYNYLM	LNDRYTPHEFY	WHULERFEN -	KSREDATRVMI HV	HTREVELCOVYTY	EVALTENTON	NOLARDNOMPL	GTIEKE	
INFREENDICLPS ANTOTUN-101		·····PAKPOT IWDRE SAFVD	NTOPPKRYGYFL	MEDPVNLMSVY	TYVERKLE - CA	ESEPHATEL NEO	HNEGKOL COTYTR	ESMEVOUSKL	MERAKTEGHPL	CIVELY	
INTEGRATINE ANTECH-103		ANNRNPESVIEK - GK	IR TPPPLYKYIL	INDOFTPHOPY	VKULRHTT -	DEEMATRINEKI	HTEGAGICGTYPG	BIAATEVOON	NEFSKONOMPLI	4CV#1KE	
x#[0525W0]CLPS_NOCPA/1-108 x#[06L714[CLPS_/940P907-108		-NLTLSAADATPEAVEYTEILI	IAL - DRPWVEWV	NHOOTEPHOL	IEVLOKPPS-	DWEKATOLNEN	HYERKAICOIFIA	EVALISVADY	WHEARENEHPL	CINEKA	
MA2BYMSICLPS PROMS/T-TOS			ALKNKSPEYEVLL	HNOPVISHEY	TIALREYVPOL	SECOALAINE EA	HNNOVOL VIVODL	EPAEFY BESL	KSKOISSSIEK	DE	
SEQUERINESICLPS_PSEAB/7-722 SEQUERINESICLPS_RALSO/7-708	MAROUTALTENGOR	-QATTPOHDAG - TVLERKE	OAL KPPAMYNULL	LNDOYIPWEFY	WHILEQYFS	CORETATO INL TY	HREOROVCOLYTR	DIAATEVELY	STHARGAGHPL	DEVMEEA	
selected ps. Rosport.112	WANCSTTAP	VOAMPASPOVTPAESEVVEID	EAN - DRPWVTYV PKTKRPPLYMVLL	WOOPVNL MHYN	TY I FOKL F . GY	NHAQAFE INLT	HSEGKAVYSBOSR	E LAETEVADY	HAAG	CTNEKEE	
WIP67660(CLPS_SAL751-106		NOWL DEDQL VEDSVR	DAL KPP SHYKY IL	VNDDYTPMEEN	I DVLOKFF8 -	DVERATOL MLAN	HYCOKAICOVETA	EVAETAVAM	NKYARENEHPL	CTLEKA	
wigeedweiclps_shecwh-102 wigeeentclps_shecwh-102		NDWLDFDQLAEEKVR	DAL KPPSWYKYSU	VADOTIPHERY	DHLOKFFS -	TOVERATOL NLAN	HYQGKA ICGVETA	EVALTOVAM	NEVARENEMPL	CILEKA	
WIGE MATICLES SILPOY-112	WTAQU HMMSDKH	DOD NDASVLLOTR	PREKRPPLYNVLL	INDDYT PHEFY	WHYLERFFG -	INHAQAFEINLTY	HKKGVAVVGVFSH	EVALTEVEL	NEVARENEMPL	CTNEKED	
ADIORNOZOZOCKAS, STRAWOT-105		PAPLEIEKTESAEEVF	AVPEPDVPWVTIV	MADPVNLASY	TYPETYP -GY	SKOKATKI NI DA	HHKGRAVYSIGT	EMERBYCA	NGYG	ATLOODRK	
IDIOWSWICLPS SYNPUT-01 IDIOWSWICLPS VIBCH7-105	MAVETIQ	FEWISPOFOLLEKEK	TAY KPP SHEHVEL	NEDBYTPHOPY	TEILERPES	DI FRATOVNI KY	HYEGKALCOTPTA	EVALTEVACY	THYSRENEHPL	CTMEOA	
INCOMMELPS_TREDER-101				LHDDFTPMOPY	WAVE ISEPN -	SO BAETLNPK	HETEDALVOIVY	DIATTECTO	LTAAKNNEPL	а <mark>скун</mark> ку	
xp[001GL7[CLPS_THC907-104 xp[080/P3]CLPS_THEEB/1-94			HYP NYKY I Y	LASSINIFON	ACLAKYIPN	TSPRAWELING	HYEODALVWVOPC	EQABLY HEOL	LRAG	APLEPE	
##P73634[CLPS_SYM737-#8	·····WIBN····	AATSTPORLTSTVRK	TYP NFRVIY	LHODFNTFOH	BOCLLKY (PO)	TORANEL TNO	HE DOLA I VWVOPO	EDAEL YHOOL	RREG	MAPLEKA	
\$100PL00CLPS_X444G7-108	<mark>₩₽</mark> ŔN	TSHEHOHOLWVEASK	PEVAPPPRYOULL	LHODYTPHOFY	WTULEOFFN-	INLEGATO INL HY	HTROROVCOVYSA	EVAESEVAD	NEFSAMNOHPL	CTN BQA	
selB2/9Y0/CLPS_XYLF2/100 selC6NLR1/CLPS_ZY6MO/1107	MSQK.	DEDKDSOVTVITRTT	POTICKPOPYEVEM	LNDDYTPHOFY	VLCLORFFR	I EDATKVILQV	HCROVOLCOVETY	EVAESEVACY	VOFAROHOHPL	QCTLEKA	
MA17569(CLPS_ACMC/1-122	NVRNATKPPSNT	TPPTGAPPRDDGGSVVLERRT	ORTOPPONYOVYN	LHOBYTPHEFY	IVVLOEFFO	COREAATO INL KI	HL DOKOVCOVYSP	OVANTEVEOV	REAAHKAGHPL	CLEEPVE ·····	
CONTRACTOR ALIGNATION	SKF	YEWISPOSOVLELEK	IGE KPPPMTKWU	NNDDYTPMET	VEVLOKERS .	DLEKATOLNET	HYEGKAVCGYFTA	EVALTEVAD	NIVERONEMPL	CIMEQA	
INCIDENTICLES AZOVON-120	WFASTE HLT CODRP	EPRE DDSYBYVVQESK	PAL KVPPMYKVVM	PROCYTPHOP	TULORES	INRELATION TO	HTEGRAVCOMPTP	DIAATEVIO	SAFARECOMPL	CELEKOG	
ADCORPTICLES CORADA-111		-GVVNSSPNATPEL GEA IEVD	VATSENL PHMCIN	NCOP VILLASY	STUFOTUL -G	DERRANELING	HTEGKAAVSEGER		QVAG	WATINGQAG ·····	
INTERPORT PROVIDE ANTERPORT		NOWL OF DOL AS DEVE	DAL KPPSMYRYML Raykppslysvil	NNDDYTPHEP	LEVIOTERA -	YDVERATOLNI TY	WYRCKA I COLFTA	EVACTEVAN	NRYACONEMPL	GTLEKA	
INBZVCBECLPS_ENWTWI-NE		·····NDWLNFEDLADDKVR	EEE KPP SMYRVIL	NHODETPHERY	IDVLOKES -	TOIERATOLNI TY	WYCOKA I COVPTA	EVACTEVAN	NKYARDNEHPL	CTLEKA	
xtip4076K0jCLP5_KLEP57-109 xtip1MOG8jCLP5_LAMN97-109		-MIOSSYNFILOLOSPELLLO	EK RRPKHYQVLL	MRENYILMERY	WSILMKIPR -	TMECAI SINL ST	HRKE IGVADVYI	ELASTAVNI	HALAREAGEPL	GILGEVDE	
INTODAOBRICLPS_NARMM1-199	MET LENGLING	OVE EGTGLATKTR	PATKKPSLYRVLL	LNDDYTPMEFY	VEVLARIFR-	KSPEDAAR INL HY	HONGVONCOVYTY	EVALTEVADY	NOVERECEMPL	CINEKE	
SUBILISTICLPS_NAUPA/1-87	WHRT - SHOLLY ENGINE	NETKTVVENDV	-EL INPALYKYNL	LADOYTTEDEN	IEILKTYPH .	KNEEEAINITLKY	DREGSAAVOVYPY	EIAQVEIEK	HTLARDAGYPL	RAVNEEV	
MISSIN/BICLPS RHOCS/1-100 MICSCLLBCLPS WARRS/1-119	MAD SOK	HODEGPSTOVVVKAK	CKTAPPQMYQVVM	LNDDYTPMEFY	IVELQEVEN .	KNREEATRINE HY	HEREVENCENFTY	DLAATEVNOS	MEAAHQAGHPL	QCVSEPIA	
			1.00							1	
Conservation							la e a Mila	I als at			
		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	00500433+4784	34.48.6.6.	£1115561Q-1	\$7233-4397-27	-54-4-4155673	\$7454726	5331500055	6.00100	
()-alth	all and		ALL DE	111		Line .	J. Ball	1 100.0	a land		
	and the second second	States and a second	THE R. L.	100100-00	a and a					A REAL PROPERTY AND INCOME.	
			والالا	Link				د بایل	i nul	LL.	
Conservat			PKI KP P OHVEVI	NERVICE	NEVIATEDA	EDRERATO INI TO	EVER OVERVERVE	EWAETRYAN	NOVAR + NOHPI	CTNEKALE	

ClpS junction

ja.



Figure. 3.4. Mutations in the ClpS junction render the adaptor susceptible to degradation by ClpAP. (A) Sequence alignment of ClpS homologs. Sequences were obtained from the Universal Protein Resource (UniProt 2010) and aligned with ClustalW. Taken from Román-Hernández *et. al.* 2011. (B) Western Blot analysis of PP/AA ClpS degradation in the absence (top) or presence (bottom) of N-degron peptide. (C) Western Blot analysis of PP/NN ClpS degradation in the absence of N-degron peptide. (D) Delivery and degradation of the N-degron substrate YLFVQELA-GFP to ClpAP in the absence of ClpS, in the presence of ClpS^{PP/AA}, or in the presence of WT ClpS. Degradation was monitored by the decrease in substrate fluorescence.

One possible explanation for the susceptibility of CIpS^{PP/AA} to degradation is a decrease in global stability of the CIpS^{core} upon introduction of the alanine substitutions. Preliminary equilibrium chemical denaturation experiments show no significant difference between the curves for wild type CIpS and CIpS^{PP/AA} suggesting that, upon completion of the experiments, we would obtain similar free energies of unfolding for wild-type CIpS and CIpS^{PP/AA}. This, in turn, suggests that the alanine substitutions have a negligible effect on global CIpS stability (Fig. 3.5A).

ClpS orthologs frequently contain a one to three residue long proline motif at the junction (Fig. 3.4A) (16). Measurements of peptide translocation by a AAA+ ring hexamer suggest that proline-rich sequences are translocated relatively slowly (23). We tested the contribution of a potentially "difficult" proline stretch at the junction by inserting one to four alanines between the junction sequence and the ClpS^{core} (Fig.3.1A). We observed that insertion of one alanine between the junction sequence and the ClpS^{core} preserved ClpS degradation resistance (Fig. 3.5B). However, increasing the number of inserted alanines from 2 to 4 resulted in increased ClpS degradation by ClpAP. Like ClpS^{PP/AA}, degradation of the 2 to 4-ala-add-ClpS variants was inhibited by the addition of N-degron substrate, (Fig.3.5B). Together, our results from perturbing the ClpS junction sequence, where the unfoldase is bound when it encounters a folded obstacle, plays a critical role in determining susceptibility to unfolding and degradation.

Local CIpS stability governs degradation susceptibility

Our results suggest that a "difficult" to translocate junction sequence contributes to CIpS resistance to degradation. We hypothesized that degradation resistance further depends on the stability of the local structure directly C-terminal of the junction, where ClpA must initiate its unfolding. To test the contribution of local ClpS stability, we engineered a CIpS variant where unfolding by CIpAP initates from the protein's C terminus rather than the N terminus by appending the ssrA-degradation tag to the Cterminus of ClpS (ClpS-ssrA, Fig. 3.5C). Because the K_M of ssrA-tagged substrates is lower (~1 μ M) than that of NTE-tagged substrates (~15 μ M) (16, 24, 25), we reasoned that CIpA would preferentially engage the ssrA-tag and subsequently be challenged by local structure differing from that normally encountered during N-terminal engagement. Based on the crystal structure of ClpS (PDB 3O1F; (16)) the C-terminus of ClpS possess an unstructured region. Therefore, addition of an ssrA tag to the non-structured C-terminus is unlikely to affect the global stability of the adaptor, and we will test this assumption in future chemical denaturation experiments. Notably, ClpS-ssrA was readily degraded by CIpAP, both in the presence and absence of N-degron peptide (Fig. 3.5C). This result strongly supports the mechanism that suggests that local stability, and not global stability, dictates ClpS degradation resistance by ClpAP. This type of mechanism for resistance to degradation by AAA+ proteases has been previously proposed by Matouschek et al. 2003 (26).



Figure 3.5. Preliminary data suggest that global stability of ClpS is not affected by mutations in the junction sequence. (A) Chemical denaturation of WT ClpS and the ClpS^{PP/AA} variant. Denaturation was followed by circular dichroism at 220 nm. (B) Western Blot analysis of the 1-4 Ala-Add ClpS variants in the absence (left) and presence (right) of N-degron substrate. (C) Western Blot analysis of ClpS-ssrA in the absence (top) or presence (bottom) of N-degron peptide.

New Sector Secto

Discussion

The work presented in this chapter addresses important mechanistic details of ClpS delivery of N-end rule substrates to the ClpAP protease. Our data support a model, shown in Figure 3B, in which ClpA-dependent engagement of the ClpS NTE remodels the ClpS^{core}, resulting in partial or complete extraction of the ClpS β1-strand. Such remodeling may facilitate substrate delivery to ClpA by positioning the substrate near the ClpA pore, weakening the ClpS-substrate interaction, or both. Indeed, bound N-degron substrates stabilized some ClpS variants against degradation, suggesting that substrate binding and structural stability are thermodynamically linked. After substrate delivery, ClpS resists global unfolding and might be released by the ClpA pore, allowing translocation and degradation of the N-degron substrate and refolding/recycling of ClpS.

The ClpS/ClpA-mediated active delivery model we propose shares common features with the mycobacterial pupylation pathway. Vast arrays of substrates are covalently modified by the Pup protein, which also interacts with the N-terminal domain of the PAN AAA+ ring. Pup is recognized by the PAN pore and translocated, along with the substrate, into the proteolytic chamber of the proteasome for degradation (27). Thus, Pup acts as both an adaptor by tethering the substrate to the ATPase ring and as a degradation signal for proteins that may lack a degradation tag that can be recognized directly by PAN (27). Similarly, the ClpS adaptor binds simultaneously to N-degron substrates and to the N-domain of ClpA, and the unstructured ClpS NTE is recognized and translocated by the unfoldase (15-17, 28, 29). In contrast to Pup, ClpS is remodeled and recycled after substrate transfer (16, 20). ClpS recycling may be important if N-

degron degradation functions under stress conditions in which synthesis of new ClpS molecules is poor.

Partial substrate unfolding by AAA+ enzymes serves important biological roles. For example, the bacterial chaperone ClpB lacks a robust unfoldase activity but is critical for protein homeostasis (30). Experiments with protein fusions of misfolded and native domains show that even partial unfolding of a misfoded protein by ClpB can be sufficient to solubilize aggregates (30). Recently, mitochondrial AAA+ ClpX has been proposed to partially unfold ALA synthase to catalyze the insertion of its essential cofactor, PLP. This partial unfolding protein remodeling reaction is essential for robust heme biosynthesis, thereby allowing cofactor binding and enzyme activation (31). We propose a similar mechanism in which partial unfolding of the CIpS adaptor promotes Ndegron substrate transfer. Our tmFRET and crosslinking experiments suggest that ClpA-dependent partial unfolding in the ClpS^{core} occurs during substrate delivery and that this remodeling is important for the delivery of N-degron substrates. Notably, our tmFRET experiments suggest that ClpS binding to ATPyS-loaded ClpA results in considerable structural rearrangements in ClpS, and further remodeling occurs upon introduction of ATP. Because ATPyS supports little to no ClpA machine function (but supports substrate-adaptor binding and at least partial engagement), our results raise the possibility that binding to CIpA primes CIpS for further ATP-dependent remodeling to promote substrate delivery.

Although AAA+ proteases can unfold substrates with diverse structures and stabilities, some substrates are only degraded partially or not at all (21, 22, 32-37). Inhibitory or

challenging sequences, highly stable domains, or stable-unfolding intermediates all could contribute to resisting degradation. Our mutational and preliminary chemical denaturation experiments suggest that ClpA simultaneously encounters a stable secondary structure and a translocation-challenging sequence at the ClpS junction, thereby allowing ClpS to escape unfolding and degradation. Future hydrogen-deuterium exchange experiments will more directly test local stability near the ClpS junction.

Materials and Methods

Proteins and Peptides

Mutants were generated by the QuickChange method (Stratagene) or PCR. ClpS, ClpS mutants, and substrates were purified as described (17). Briefly, ClpS, ClpS mutants, and substrates were initially fused to the C terminus of H₆-Sumo in pET23b (Novagen). Following expression, fusion proteins were purified by Ni-NTA chromatography (QIAGEN) and cleaved with Ulp1 protease. The cleaved H₆-Sumo fragment was removed by passage through Ni-NTA, and the protein of interest was purified by gel filtration on Superdex 75 (GE Healthsciences) and/or ion-exchange chromatography on MonoQ (GE Healthsciences). ClpS variants were concentrated and stored in 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 150 mM KCl, 1 mM DTT, and 10 % glycerol. ClpA and ClpP were purified as described (16). As ClpS variants were purified using the Sumo-fusion and Ulp1 cleavage method, the N-terminal methionine of ClpS should be present. Previous publications have either used Sumo-cleavage or native expression for ClpS variants (16, 19). The N-degron (LLFVQRDSKEC) was synthesized by standard FMOC techniques using an Apex 396 solid-phase instrument.

Fluorescent Labeling

Peptides were labeled with fluorescein maleimide as described (29). Labeled ClpS variants were labeled with fluorescein maleimide as described (16). Briefly, ClpS variants (50 μ M) containing a single cysteine were incubated with 50 mM DTT in 100 mM TrisCl (pH 8) for 1.5 h at 4 °C, buffer exchanged into 100 mM Na₂PO₄ (pH 8), and 1 mM EDTA. The variants were then singly labeled by addition of 0.3 mg/mL of fluorescein maleimide (Thermo Scientific) for 2 h at room temperature in the dark.

Excess reagent was removed by size-exclusion chromatography, and the modified protein was stored in 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 200 mM KCl, and 1 mM DTT.

Fluorescent assays

TmFRET experiments were measured using a PTI QM-20000-4SE spectrofluorimeter (excitation 495 nm; emission: 500 - 575 nm). Unless noted all assays contained 500 μ M Cu²⁺ and 4 mM NTA. NTA was included because it binds Cu²⁺ and reduces its affinity for free and ClpA bound nucleotides but does not prevent binding to the His-X₃-His motif.

Degradation Assays and Western Blots

ClpAPS degradation assays were performed as described (38). Briefly, ClpA₆ (100 nM), ClpP₁₄ (200 nM), and ClpS variants (1 μ M) were preincubated in reaction buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.5], 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM DTT, and 10 % glycerol) with YLFVQELA-GFP (1 μ M) for 3 min at 30 °C before adding ATP regeneration mix (4 mM ATP, 50 mg/mL creatine kinase, 5 mM creatine phosphate) or ATPγS (2 mM) to initiate assay. GFP degradation was assayed by loss of fluorescence. Reported kinetic parameters were averages (n ≥ 3) ± 1 SD. Degradation of ClpS variants was monitored by SDS-PAGE and western blotting as described (19). Briefly, samples were separated by SDS-PAGE followed by an anti-ClpS western blot.

Binding Assays

Binding assays, monitored by fluorescence anisotropy, were performed using a Photon Technology International Fluorimeter. Data were fitted using a quadratic equation for tight binding. Reported K_{app} values are averages (n \geq 3) with errors calculated as SQRT([K- K_{avg}]²/n).

Oxidations and reductions

Residue positions for engineered disulfides were identified using the program Disulfide by Design (39) by searching the ClpS structure (PDB 3O1F) (16). Denaturing purifications were performed as described (19). Refolding of the ClpS variants was performed with either 10 mM Copper Phenanthroline for oxidative conditions or 10 mM DTT for reducing conditions. ClpS variants were then concentrated and stored in 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 150 mM KCl, 10 % glycerol, and 1 mM DTT for the reduced variant.

Acknowledgements

We thank A. Olivares, B. Stinson, A. Torres-Delgado, and V. Baytshtok for helpful discussions and advice. This work was supported in part by National Institutes of Health Pre-Doctoral Training Grant T32GM007287, the Howard Hughes Medical Institute, and National Institutes of Health Grants GM-49224 and Al- 16892. T.A.B. is an employee of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

References

- 1. Gottesman S (2003) P ROTEOLYSIS INB ACTERIALR EGULATORYC IRCUITS11. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 19:565–587.
- 2. Sauer RT et al. (2004) Sculpting the Proteome with AAA+ Proteases and Disassembly Machines. *Cell* 119:9–18.
- 3. Hanson PI, Whiteheart SW (2005) AAA+ proteins: have engine, will work. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6:519–529.
- Mogk A, Schmidt R, Bukau B (2007) The N-end rule pathway for regulated proteolysis: prokaryotic and eukaryotic strategies. *Trends in Cell Biology* 17:165– 172.
- 5. Baker TA, Sauer RT (2006) ATP-dependent proteases of bacteria: recognition logic and operating principles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 31:647–653.
- 6. Varshavsky A (1996).
- 7. Tobias J, Shrader T, Rocap G, Varshavsky A (1991) The N-end rule in bacteria. *Science* 254:1374–1377.
- 8. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 9. Wang KH, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2007) ClpS modulates but is not essential for bacterial N-end rule degradation. *Genes & Development* 21:403–408.
- 10. Cranz-Mileva S et al. (2008) The Flexible Attachment of the N-Domains to the ClpA Ring Body Allows their Use On Demand. *J Mol Biol* 378:412–424.
- 11. Effantin G, Ishikawa T, De Donatis GM, Maurizi MR, Steven AC (2010) Local and Global Mobility in the ClpA AAA+ Chaperone Detected by Cryo-Electron Microscopy: Functional Connotations. *Structure/Folding and Design* 18:553–562.
- 12. Wang F et al. (2011) Structure and mechanism of the hexameric MecA-ClpC molecular machine. *Nature* 471:331–335.
- 13. Tasaki T, Kwon YT (2007) The mammalian N-end rule pathway: new insights into its components and physiological roles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 32:520–528.
- 14. Zeth K, Dougan DA, Cusack S, Bukau B, Ravelli RB (2002) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of the Escherichia coli adaptor protein ClpS, free and in complex with the N-terminal domain of ClpA. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* 58:1207–1210.
- 15. Guo F (2002) Crystal Structure of ClpA, an Hsp100 Chaperone and Regulator of ClpAP Protease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:46743–46752.

- 16. Roman-Hernandez G, Hou JY, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) The ClpS Adaptor Mediates Staged Delivery of N-End Rule Substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP Protease. *Molecular Cell* 43:217–228.
- 17. Rivera-Rivera I, Román-Hernández G, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2014) Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
- 18. Taraska JW, Puljung MC, Olivier NB, Flynn GE, Zagotta WN (2009). *Nat Meth* 6:532–537.
- 19. Hou JY, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Distinct structural elements of the adaptor ClpS are required for regulating degradation by ClpAP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:288–294.
- 20. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 21. Lee C, Schwartz MP, Prakash S, Iwakura M, Matouschek A (2001) ATPdependent proteases degrade their substrates by processively unraveling them from the degradation signal. *Molecular Cell* 7:627–637.
- 22. Kenniston JA, Burton RE, Siddiqui SM, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2004) Effects of local protein stability and the geometric position of the substrate degradation tag on the efficiency of ClpXP denaturation and degradation. *Journal of Structural Biology* 146:130–140.
- 23. Barkow SR, Levchenko I, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2009) Polypeptide Translocation by the AAA+ ClpXP Protease Machine. *Chemistry & Biology* 16:605–612.
- 24. Flynn JM et al. (2001) Overlapping recognition determinants within the ssrA degradation tag allow modulation of proteolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98:10584–10589.
- 25. Wah DA, Levchenko I, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2002) Characterization of a specificity factor for an AAA+ ATPase: assembly of SspB dimers with ssrA-tagged proteins and the ClpX hexamer. *Chemistry & Biology* 9:1237–1245.
- 26. Matouschek A, Bustamante C (2003) Finding a protein's Achilles heel. *Nat Struct Biol* 10:674–676.
- Striebel F, Imkamp F, Özcelik D, Weber-Ban E (2014) Pupylation as a signal for proteasomal degradation in bacteria. *BBA - Molecular Cell Research* 1843:103– 113.
- 28. Guo F (2002) Crystal Structure of the Heterodimeric Complex of the Adaptor, ClpS, with the N-domain of the AAA+ Chaperone, ClpA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:46753–46762.
- 29. Wang KH, Roman-Hernandez G, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) The

Molecular Basis of N-End Rule Recognition. Molecular Cell 32:406-414.

- 30. Haslberger T et al. (2008) Protein disaggregation by the AAA+ chaperone ClpB involves partial threading of looped polypeptide segments. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:641–650.
- 31. Kardon JR et al. (2015) Mitochondrial ClpX Activates a Key Enzyme for Heme Biosynthesis and Erythropoiesis. *Cell* 161:858–867.
- 32. Palombella VJ, Rando OJ, Goldberg AL, Maniatis T (1994) The ubiquitinproteasome pathway is required for processing the NF-κB1 precursor protein and the activation of NF-κB. *Cell*.
- 33. Levitskaya J, Sharipo A, Leonchiks A (1997).
- 34. Kenniston JA, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2005) Partitioning between unfolding and release of native domains during CIpXP degradation determines substrate selectivity and partial processing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102:1390–1395.
- 35. Tian L, Holmgren RA, Matouschek A (2005) A conserved processing mechanism regulates the activity of transcription factors Cubitus interruptus and NF-κB. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 12:1045–1053. Available at: http://www.nature.com/nsmb/journal/v12/n12/full/nsmb1018.html.
- 36. Martin A, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2008) Protein unfolding by a AAA+ protease is dependent on ATP-hydrolysis rates and substrate energy landscapes. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:139–145.
- 37. Nager AR, Baker TA, Sauer RT (2011) Stepwise Unfolding of a β Barrel Protein by the AAA+ ClpXP Protease. *J Mol Biol* 413:1–13.
- Wang KH, Oakes ESC, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Tuning the Strength of a Bacterial N-end Rule Degradation Signal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283:24600–24607.
- 39. Dombkowski AA (2003) Disulfide by DesignTM: a computational method for the rational design of disulfide bonds in proteins. *Bioinformatics* 19:1852–1853.

CHAPTER FOUR

Perspectives and Future Directions

Introduction

Work presented here and elsewhere demonstrates that the ClpS adaptor does not simply tether substrates to the ClpAP protease, but collaborates with ClpA to employ a novel active delivery mechanism (1-3). Structural and biochemical data have revealed the interactions between ClpS and both N-degron substrates and ClpA (2, 4, 5). Three components of the ClpS structure interact with ClpA to form an active substrate delivery complex. *i*) The ClpS body or core, which contains the N-degron binding pocket, binds to the N-domain of ClpA (4, 6, 7), but this binding is not sufficient for delivery of N-degron substrates (1, 2). *ii*) The long and flexible N-terminal extension (NTE) is engaged by the ClpA translocation pore during substrate delivery (3). Furthermore, we show that, for successful delivery, substrates must be bound to a ClpS molecule whose NTE is actively engaged (3). (2, 7). *iii*) The junction between the N-terminal extension and the ClpS^{core} is moderately conserved among ClpS orthologs (2). Previous data revealed that residues of the junction serve as tethering signals to bring the adaptor-substrate complex near the ClpA pore (2), and we provide evidence that this region contributes to the resistance of ClpS to degradation by ClpAP.

Our data show engagement-dependent structural rearrangements of the $ClpS^{core}$ that are important for substrate delivery. Additonally, our data suggest that local stability, likely proximal to the β 1-strand, and not global stability plays an important role in the ability of ClpS to excape degradation by ClpAP. We propose that these structural rearrangements may facilitate substrate transfer by a combination of placing the Ndegron binding pocket closer to the ClpA processing pore and by weakening interactions between the binding pocket and the N-degron substrate. After delivery, ClpS resists degradation by ClpAP and the adaptor is released.

It will be important to probe the complexes involved in the ClpAS delivery mechanism to obtain a higher resolution view of the specific protein conformational changes that accompany, and are responsible for, efficient N-degron substrate delivery. The first stage important to focus on is remodeling that occurs in the ClpS^{core} upon engagement by ClpA. Hydrogen-deuterium (H/D) exchange experiments can measure dynamics of solvent accessibility with residue resolution. H/D exchange measurements of ClpS will provide a powerful tool to probe for nucleotide- and ClpA-dependent conformational changes in the ClpS^{core}.

Physiological Role of the N-degron pathway in E. coli

In eukaryotes, the N-end rule pathway controls myriad processes including peptide import, chromosome stability, cardiovascular development and nitric oxide detection (8). However, the physiological roles of the N-degron pathway in *E. coli* are poorly understood and remain an important area of future research.

In bacteria, almost all newly synthesized proteins contain an N-terminal Nformylmethionine, which is a stabilizing residue in the N-degron pathway. Therefore, the best current evidence strongly indicates that all N-degron substrates must be generated post-translationally. For example, multiple leucine residues, which are destabilizing N-degrons, are covalently attached to the initiating methionine of *E*. coli PATase, a ClpS substrate isolated by a ClpS affinity column (9), by L/F aminoacyl transferase (Aat protein; ((9)). PATase catalyses the aminotransferase reaction from putrescine to 2-oxoglutarate to generate L-glutamate and 4-aminobutanal as part of the arginine biosynthesis pathway (10). Notably, typical Aat substrates bear an N-terminal lysine or arginine, to which a single leucine or phenylalanine is attached. Why PATase is an exception is unknown.

Another pathway for the generation of N-degron substrates involves endoproteolytic cleavage of substrates. A recent study by Humbard *et al.* using a ClpS affinity column coupled with mass spectrometry and N-terminal sequencing found dozens of ClpS-interacting proteins that appeared to be the product of cleavage by unknown proteases or peptidases (11). Furthermore, previous studies found the DNA protection during starvation (Dps) protein to be an N-degron substrate generated by removal of five N-terminal residues to reveal a leucine residue (9, 11). The responsible Dps endopeptidase is unkown, nor has it been clearly demonstrated that this reaction is physiologically relevant. The currently known spectrum of substrates suggests a possible physiological role for the N-degron pathway in protein quality control as well as cell division, translation, transcription, and DNA replication given the array of protein identified in studies. For example, some of the proteins identified in the studies are the translation initiaition factor 2, the lactose inhibitor Lacl, the transcriptional repressor and membrane-associated enzyme PutA, and the DNA gyrase subunit GyrB, among others (9, 11).

Notably, the large excess of internal peptides limits the identification of N-terminal sequences produced by endoproteolytic cleavage by mass spectrometry. Kim *et al.* have presented a method to enrich N-terminal peptides from complex mixtures that involves several blocking and chemical derivatization steps that selectively convert protein N-termini into reactive thiol groups amenable to capture by thiol affinity resins. These authors demostrated near-quantitative yields of thiol derivitization and initial application of their strategy to a whole cell lysate of *Aspergillus niger* followed by LC-MS/MS revealed high N-terminal peptide enrichment efficiency (12). This type of regorious and near quantitative proteomic studies are still needed in *E.coli*, and other bacteria, in identifying and characterizing ClpS N-degron substrates and their biological roles.

Do interactions with the N-domain of CIpA stabilize CIpS?

Our studies show that binding of an N-degron substrate to the ClpS binding pocket stabilizes ClpS and prevents degradation of some ClpS variants that are readily degraded in the absence of N-degron substrates. ClpS also binds to the N-terminal domain of ClpA to form a stable complex in the presence of ATP γ S (2, 7). Whether this interaction also contributes to ClpS degradation resistance, other than just recruiting ClpS, is unknown. Using ClpA lacking the N-domain (ClpA^{ΔN}), which would potentially degrade substrates delivered by ClpS (albeit, if possible, it would be much slower), we will measure degradation of ClpS variants that are efficiently degraded by wild-type ClpA. Furthermore, comparisons of ClpS H/D exchange measurements conducted

without ClpA, with wild-type ClpA, with ClpA^{ΔN}, and with the isolated ClpA N-domain will reveal contributions of the N-domain to the structural dynamics of ClpS.

Is CIpS always a part of the CIpAP machine?

ClpS and ClpA form a nucleotide-dependent complex, but it is unknown whether the complex persists for multiple rounds of substrate delivery or whether ClpS is released after one round of substrate delivery. Future ClpS competition experiments measuring fluorescence anisotropy of a labeled ClpS variant will address this question. We will form a high anisotropy ClpS-substrate-ClpA complex in the presence of ATP γ S and initiate substrate delivery by adding ATP, N-degron substrate, and an excess of unlabeled ClpS. To ensure a stoichiometry of one ClpS per ClpA hexamer in the preformed complex, ClpA will be present in excess of ClpS. If ClpS persists in the complex for multiple rounds of delivery, we expect complex lifetime (τ_c), as measured by decay of the anisotropy signal, to be significantly longer than the N-degron substrate degradation time (τ_{deg}), defined as the inverse of the steady-state degradation rate. Conversely, a τ_c similar to τ_{deg} would suggest that ClpS is released from ClpA upon substrate delivery, and a τ_c less than τ_{deg} would suggest that ClpS usually releases from ClpA before substrate is delivered.

Partial substrate unfolding by AAA+ enzymes

Our model for N-degron substrate delivery by the ClpS adaptor posits that partial unfolding of the ClpS adaptor promotes delivery of N-degron substrates. Models of

partial protein unfolding have been proposed for enzymes involved in other biological processes. For example, partial unfolding of a misfolded protein by the bacterial AAA+ ClpB chaperone can solubilize aggregates (13). Additionally, a recent study suggests that partial unfolding of ALA synthase, an enzyme essential for heme biosynthesis, by mitochondrial AAA+ ClpX plays an important role in cofactor binding and enzyme activation (14). Thus, mechanisms involving partial protein unfolding may not be restricted to protein degradation and the protein quality control network, but also may fulfill other important roles.

The ubiquitous N-degron degradation pathway contributes to the network of regulated proteolysis, an essential process in all cells that relies on a high degree of substrate specificity. Adaptor proteins are important regulators of substrate specificity. Thus, understanding the breadth of molecular mechanisms used by adaptors is essential to fully understand both recognition and function of AAA+ proteases and other AAA+ machines.

References

- 1. Hou JY, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) Distinct structural elements of the adaptor ClpS are required for regulating degradation by ClpAP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:288–294.
- Roman-Hernandez G, Hou JY, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2011) The ClpS Adaptor Mediates Staged Delivery of N-End Rule Substrates to the AAA+ ClpAP Protease. *Molecular Cell* 43:217–228.
- 3. Rivera-Rivera I, Román-Hernández G, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2014) Remodeling of a delivery complex allows ClpS-mediated degradation of N-degron substrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
- 4. Wang KH, Roman-Hernandez G, Grant RA, Sauer RT, Baker TA (2008) The Molecular Basis of N-End Rule Recognition. *Molecular Cell* 32:406–414.
- 5. Román-Hernández G, Grant R (2009).
- 6. Guo F (2002) Crystal Structure of the Heterodimeric Complex of the Adaptor, ClpS, with the N-domain of the AAA+ Chaperone, ClpA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277:46753–46762.
- 7. Dougan DA, Reid BG, Horwich AL, Bukau B (2002) ClpS, a substrate modulator of the ClpAP machine. *Molecular Cell* 9:673–683.
- 8. Tasaki T, Kwon YT (2007) The mammalian N-end rule pathway: new insights into its components and physiological roles. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 32:520–528.
- 9. Ninnis RL, Spall SK, Talbo GH, Truscott KN, Dougan DA (2009) Modification of PATase by L/F-transferase generates a ClpS-dependent N-end rule substrate in Escherichia coli. *EMBO J* 28:1732–1744.
- 10. Samsonova NN, Smirnov SV, Altman IB, Ptitsyn LR (2003) Molecular cloning and characterization of Escherichia coli K12 ygjG gene. *BMC Microbiol* 3:2.
- 11. Humbard MA, Surkov S, De Donatis GM, Jenkins LM, Maurizi MR (2013) The Ndegradome of Escherichia coli: LIMITED PROTEOLYSIS IN VIVO GENERATES A LARGE POOL OF PROTEINS BEARING N-DEGRONS. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288:28913–28924.
- 12. Kim J-S et al. (2013) Resin-Assisted Enrichment of N-Terminal Peptides for Characterizing Proteolytic Processing. *Anal Chem* 85:6826–6832.
- 13. Haslberger T et al. (2008) Protein disaggregation by the AAA+ chaperone ClpB involves partial threading of looped polypeptide segments. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 15:641–650.
- 14. Kardon JR et al. (2015) Mitochondrial ClpX Activates a Key Enzyme for Heme

Biosynthesis and Erythropoiesis. *Cell* 161:858–867.